
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 

T.S. and Q.B., on behalf of themselves ) 
and all others similarly situated, ) 
  ) 
 Plaintiffs, ) 
  ) No. 16 C 8303 
  v.  ) 
  ) Judge Rebecca R. Pallmeyer 
TWENTIETH CENTURY FOX TELEVISION, ) 
FOX BROADCASTING CO., ) 
TWENTY-FIRST CENTURY FOX, INC., ) 
THE COUNTY OF COOK, ILLINOIS, and ) 
LEONARD DIXON,  ) 
  ) 
 Defendants. ) 
 

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER 

 In the summer of 2015, Plaintiffs T.S. and Q.B. were pretrial detainees at the Cook County 

Juvenile Temporary Detention Center (“JTDC”).  During three short intervals that summer, 

Defendant Twentieth Century Fox and other Fox entities (collectively, “Fox Defendants”) filmed 

scenes for the television show Empire at the JTDC.  Plaintiffs allege that Empire filming disrupted 

the normal operations of the JTDC in ways that harmed them and other juvenile detainees.  They 

further allege that Defendant Leonard Dixon (the Superintendent of the JTDC), and Cook County, 

Illinois (collectively, “County Defendants”), lacked a legitimate government purpose for imposing 

certain conditions of confinement to facilitate the filming.  In this proposed class action, Plaintiffs 

assert claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and various supplemental state law theories.  See 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1331, 1367(a).  The court previously denied Plaintiffs’ motion for class certification without 

prejudice.  T.S. v. Twentieth Century Fox Television, 334 F.R.D. 518, 541 (N.D. Ill. 2020). 

 Before the court are four motions: Plaintiffs’ motion to amend their complaint to add H.C. 

as a class representative [365], Plaintiffs’ renewed motion for class certification [351], the County 

Defendants’ motion for summary judgment [411], and the Fox Defendants’ motion for summary 

judgment [409].  For the reasons below, the court grants Plaintiffs’ motion to amend their 
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complaint; grants in part and denies in part Plaintiffs’ motion for class certification; and grants in 

part and denies in part Defendants’ respective motions for summary judgment.  Because the court 

grants summary judgment with respect to Plaintiffs’ constitutional claims, the only remaining 

claims arise under state law.  In light of this case’s long procedural history and the substantial 

expenditure of judicial resources, the court will exercise its discretion to retain jurisdiction of the 

remaining claims.  See, e.g., Timm v. Mead Corp., 32 F.3d 273, 276–77 (7th Cir. 1994) (upholding 

district court’s retention of jurisdiction over state claims after granting summary judgment on only 

federal claim in the case). 

BACKGROUND 

The JTDC is a five-story juvenile detention facility in Cook County, Illinois that housed 

more than 300 youth in the summer of 2015.  (Defs.’ SOF [415] ¶ 1; PSOAF [421-3] ¶¶ 1–2.)  

These detainees were awaiting trial or other court proceedings and typically remained at the JTDC 

for around 10 days, though some stayed far longer.  (Pls.’ Ex. 10 [422-10] (hereinafter “Kraus 

Rpt.”), ¶ 20).  There is conflicting evidence on the range of detainee ages, but the parties agree 

that no detainee was younger than 12 or older than 21.  (Compare Pls.’ Ex. 4 [422-4] (hereinafter 

“Dunlap Rpt.”) ¶ 27, with Defs.’ Ex. 3 [412-3] (hereinafter “Klemke Dep.”), at 22:16–24.)  Detainees 

at the JTDC live in units called “pods” which contain rooms for individual residents that open to 

an enclosed common area.  (PSOAF ¶ 1.) 

1. Fox and the JTDC 

In May 2015, the Fox Defendants were looking for a prison-related backdrop for two 

episodes of Empire, a television show set in New York City but filmed in Chicago.  (See PSOAF 

¶ 12; Fox Summ. J. Mot. [410] at 9.)  Fox’s “location scout” Jonathan Klemke was part of the team 

that first came across the JTDC.  (Klemke Dep. at 19:3–5.)  Klemke testified that a friend found 

the JTDC on Google Maps and recommended he look into it.  (Id. at 19:6–19.)  Klemke “follow[ed] 
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up on” the recommendation by “call[ing] and g[etting] in touch with” Dixon.  (Id.)  Dixon expressed 

interest, and Klemke drove over to the JTDC to meet with him that same day.  (Id. at 23:18–24:3.) 

Once at the JTDC, Klemke toured portions of the facility; the extent of the tour is not clear 

from the record.  (Klemke Dep. at 27:18–24, 81:19–82:12.)  Klemke took photos, including two 

pictures of the outdoor yard that appear to be taken from a window on the fourth or fifth floor of 

the facility.1  (Defs.’ Resp. to PSOAF [430] (hereinafter “Resp. to PSOAF”), ¶ 18; Pls.’ Ex. 19 [422-

19]; Pls.’ Ex. 20 [422-20].)  At some point during the tour, Klemke saw groups of 15 to 20 detainees 

being transported in the hallways but did not know why they were moving about the hallways at 

the time.  (Klemke Dep. at 25:11–26:2, 69:8–11.)  Klemke saw that the classrooms on the second 

floor were empty during his tour.  (Id. at 69:17–70:12.)  He was surprised the classrooms were 

empty, but he testified that Dixon explained the kids at the JTDC were “off during the summer.”  

(Id.)  Dixon himself testified that there is summer school at the JTDC, and, thus, he “couldn’t have 

told [Klemke] school was out for the entire summer . . . .”  (Defs.’ Ex. 5 [412-5] (hereinafter “Dixon 

Dep.”) at 71:8–19.)   

Klemke admitted that, based on his tour, he understood that the yards were the only place 

that the detainees could go outdoors.  (Klemke Dep. at 110:1–14.)  Klemke testified, however, 

that Dixon told him there were alternative indoor locations that would allow the detainees to 

exercise.  (Id. at 109:1–12.)  Likewise, Klemke testified that Dixon assured him that visitors only 

use the visitation room “on certain days and that we would be able to use the [visitation] room on 

off days.”  (Id. at 100:24–101:9.)  At the time, Klemke raised these questions because “part of the 

initial scouting is to determine whether a facility can continue its operation while also 

accommodating a film crew.”  (Id. at 103:23–104:18.)  Klemke testified that he did not “really know 

 
1 Plaintiffs cite page 46 of Klemke’s deposition for the proposition that Klemke toured 

JTDC’s upper “Pod” floors (floors four and five) and took photographs of pods on the upper floors.  
(PSOAF ¶ 18.)  The cited page, however, does not appear in the record. 
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about running a prison,” so he trusted the JTDC to ensure that “filming at the detention center [did 

not] interfere[ ] with the day-to-day existence of the juveniles held there . . . .”  (Id. at 67:8–68:7.) 

On June 2, 2015, five days later, Klemke emailed Dixon to follow up on their visit.  (Pls.’ 

Ex. 16 [422-16] (hereinafter “Klemke Follow-up Email”).)  Klemke explained that if filming were to 

proceed at the JTDC, Fox would want to use “a pod, the yard, the medical center, and the 

visitation room.”  (Id.)  Fox expected to make “extensive use of several parts of the facility over 

the course of two days or so,” likely for about 12 hours per day.  (Id.)  Klemke wrote that Fox could 

“attempt to limit the personnel in the facility to only the most essential,” dropping their numbers 

from the usual 80 crew members to “closer to 30 people total.”  (Id.)  And “the two largest 

segments of filming would be in the visitation room and the yard, which hopefully makes our 

presence less of an impact.”  (Id.)  Klemke noted, “Obviously your schedule would take 

precedence over ours, and we would discuss a way of making sure that we don't interfere with 

your day to day operations too badly.”  (Id.)  When asked why he made that offer, Klemke testified, 

“My intention in writing that was to give Superintendent Dixon an opportunity to tell me that he 

wasn’t comfortable with the things that I had suggested.”  (Klemke Dep. at 36:19–37:8.)  Klemke 

explained that his understanding was that “a film crew would not be normal but [would] not 

necessarily [be] a hindrance.”  (Id. at 36:8–17.) 

On June 5, 2015, Klemke forwarded this email to his supervisor Brady Breen, Fox’s 

Location Manager.  (Klemke Follow-up Email.)  Over the next couple of weeks, Breen toured the 

JTDC, as did creator of Empire Lee Daniels and other members of the Empire production team.  

(Defs.’ Ex. 7 [412-7]; Defs.’ Ex. 8 [412-8].)  Daniels testified that his tour did not include any of the 

indoor gyms or other recreational areas.  (Defs.’ Ex. 2 [412-2] (hereinafter “Daniels Dep.”), at 

93:7–11.)  The parties point to little other evidence concerning these tours.   

On June 12, 2015, Breen emailed Dixon’s assistant, Yvonne Akins, formally requesting 

permission to film at the JTDC.  (Defs.’ Ex. 8.)  On June 17, Dixon, Akins, and JTDC’s Acting 
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Project Director Gene Robinson met with Breen and other Fox representatives to discuss the 

logistics of Fox’s plan to film.  (Defs.’ Ex. 12 [412-12] (hereinafter “Akins Dep.”) at 21:22–25:10; 

Defs.’ Ex. 7.)  There was no discussion about “any changes to the schedules of residents that 

would need to occur in order to facilitate the filming.”  (Akins Dep. at 25:6–10.)  Breen explained 

that “there was a lot of conversation about how can we accomplish the work that we want to 

accomplish and be respectful of what’s going on in the building, and those guidelines were set 

very clearly by the team that works at . . . the juvenile detention facility.”  (Defs.’ Ex. 4 [412-4] 

(hereinafter “Breen Dep.”) at 111:7–21.) 

On June 18, 2015, Breen and Cook County’s Director of Real Estate Management Anna 

Ashcraft signed a contract to allow Fox to film at the JTDC.  (Defs.’ Ex. 1 [412-1] (hereinafter 

“Location Agreement”).)  The Location Agreement would allow Fox to film in the visitation room, 

exercise yard, medical office, living pod, and hallways and lobby areas each day from Monday, 

June 22, 2015 to Friday, June 26, 2015 at a cost of $1,500 per day, payable to the Cook County 

Real Estate Management Division.  (Id.)  Paragraph 1(D) of the agreement read as follows: 

[Fox] acknowledges that the [JTDC] is a functioning Municipal Building, operating 
as a residential facility for juveniles.  [Fox] will cooperate with the County, JTDC 
Administration, and Security . . . so that normal operations of the Building and its 
occupants, and access by the public, are not disrupted in any manner whatsoever. 
 

(Id.)  Although Daniels testified that he personally was not aware of Paragraph 1(D) (Daniels Dep. 

at 95:8–25), he also testified that no one ever told him that Fox’s presence had the potential to 

have a negative impact on the detainees, and “in choosing to film at JTDC,” he “assumed that the 

residents of JTDC would be treated with respect.”  (Id. at 96:19–22, 127:16–20.)  The agreement 

also allowed Fox to return to JTDC to film additional scenes or retakes within a reasonable time 

so long as Fox provided notice.  (Location Agreement ¶ 5.)  Later, Fox and the JTDC would sign 

two addenda to the Location Agreement: one on July 7, 2015, allowing Fox to return to the JTDC 

to continue filming from July 13 to July 16 and another on August 14, 2015, allowing Fox to return 

from August 23 to August 25.  (Defs.’ Ex. 13 [412-13] (hereinafter “July Addendum”); Defs.’ Ex. 
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14 [412-14] (hereinafter “August Addendum”).)  The other language from the Location Agreement 

applied to the addenda as well.  (Defs.’ Ex. 11 [412-11] (hereinafter “Kruzel Dep.”) at 54:9–18.)   

After signing the Location Agreement, the parties continued their discussions.  JTDC 

General Counsel Zenaida Alonzo worked with Dixon to tell Fox “what areas [JTDC] could put off 

for filming and . . . still meet the requirements for the kids.”  (Defs.’ Ex. 42 [412-42] (hereinafter 

“Alonzo Dep.”) at 12:13–13:23, 27:17–29:21.)  For example, Fox had initially wanted to film in the 

infirmary.  (Location Agreement ¶ 1(A).)  Alonzo emailed Breen on June 30, 2015, however, telling 

him that “JTDC cannot accommodate any filming [in our infirmary]” because “we have federal 

standards that we have to comply with and this would impact our ability to provide medical care 

for our residents.”  (Defs.’ Ex. 45 [412-45] at 2–4.)  When asked how much equipment Fox would 

need to store at the JTDC while filming, Breen responded, “Imagine if we emptied a semi trailer 

filled to the roof.”  (Defs.’ Ex. 20 [412-20] at 2.)  JTDC agreed to allow Fox to use Pod 3B for 

filming and Pod 3A to store their equipment, though Breen had suggested Fox could store the 

equipment under tarps in the outdoor yard if necessary.  (Id. at 2–4.)  Pods 3A and 3B are 

ordinarily “Alpha” intake pods, where new detainees are screened and assessed upon admission, 

but JTDC agreed to clear out these two pods during filming.  (Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 29; see Pls.’ Ex. 

66 [422-66]; Defs.’ Ex. 20.) 

2. Filming 

Fox filmed at JTDC from June 22 to 26, from July 13 to 16, and from August 23 to 25.  

(Location Agreement; July Addendum; August Addendum.)  During that time, Fox occupied, in 

some capacity, the library, Pods 3A and 3B, the outdoor yards, the chapel, and several 

classrooms.  (Resp. to PSOAF ¶¶ 28–30.)  Each of these rooms is located on the second or third 

floor of the JTDC building.  (Resp. to PSOAF ¶¶ 4–5; see Pls.’ Ex. 2 [422-2] at 3–4.)   

Fox brought more than 150 people into the JTDC on at least four days and more than 200 

people on at least one day.  (Pls.’ Ex. 27 [422-27] (hereinafter “July 31 Robinson Email”) at 3.)  
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But Plaintiffs have identified no evidence that the presence of the additional crew members by 

itself resulted in any additional restrictions on the JTDC detainees.  Breen understood that, 

despite Fox’s presence, JTDC staff “had made accommodations to make sure that normal 

operations [of the JTDC] should continue.”  (Pls.’ Resp. to Defs.’ SOF [421-2] (hereinafter “Resp. 

to SOF”) ¶ 87.)  Breen explained that, while filming, Fox had “consistent conversations about, 

‘Yes, you can be here, no, you can’t be here, these are the times at which we can do these 

things.’”  (Breen Dep. at 80:1–8.)  There were “certainly numerous situations where [Fox wasn’t] 

able to do things that [they] wanted to do because of the . . . staff telling [Breen], you know, we 

can’t do that right now, we can’t do this right now because of the sensitivities of the location . . . . ”  

(Id. at 146:22–147:6.)  For example, Breen testified that there were “many times” when “traffic 

from the lunch area to the third floor where the pods were was restricted” during filming in order 

to “protect the kids.”  (Id. at 148:12–20.) 

Outdoor Yards.  Detainees at the JTDC ordinarily get some form of Large Muscle 

Exercise (“LME”) every day.  (Pls.’ Ex. 43 [422-43] (hereinafter “Taylor Decl.”), ¶ 13(c).)  While 

the parties do not define LME, the court presumes it includes active play such as running around, 

working out, or playing sports.  The JTDC has a large open-air courtyard on its third floor which 

is split into three adjoining yards and serves as the jail’s only venue for outdoor recreation.  (Resp. 

to PSOAF ¶ 4.)  A rotating schedule determines each day whether detainees in a given pod will 

exercise in the outdoor yards or in indoor gyms on the first floor of the JTDC.  (Taylor Decl. ¶ 13(c); 

Pls.’ Ex. 49 [422-49]; Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 6.)  No pod was scheduled to be outside every day that 

summer.  (Pls.’ Ex. 49.)  JTDC would sometimes prohibit detainees from participating in off-pod 

exercise as a form of discipline or to accommodate a staff shortage.  (Taylor Decl. ¶ 13(c)(iv).)  In 

fact, JTDC Deputy Executive Director William Steward testified that “[l]arge muscle exercise is 

done on pod quite a bit,” and “[i]t doesn’t matter where the exercise occurs as long as they get 

Case: 1:16-cv-08303 Document #: 434 Filed: 06/10/21 Page 7 of 72 PageID #:9420



 

8 

 

it . . . [and get it] with the proper staff.”  (Defs.’ Ex. 17 [412-17] (hereinafter “Steward Dep.”), at 

233:14–234:1, 235:5–10; see also Defs.’ Ex. 56 [412-56] at 12 (Aug. 10), 13–14 (Aug. 17).) 

Fox planned to a spend substantial time filming in the outdoor yards.  (Klemke Follow-up 

Email.)  JTDC closed off the yards each time Fox came to film, and the yards remained closed on 

the day after at least the June and July sessions so that JTDC could clean and “thorough[ly] 

search” the yards.  (Taylor Decl. ¶ 17; Pls.’ Ex. 34 [422-34]; Pls.’ Ex. 36 [422-36].)  Although the 

indoor gyms remained open, the closure of the outdoor yards meant there were not enough off-

pod spaces and time slots for every pod to use, so residents in many pods received their daily 

LME activity within their pods while Fox was filming.  (Taylor Decl. ¶ 18; July 31 Robinson Email 

at 3.)  One detainee filed a grievance (not signed or dated, but referred to by Plaintiffs as the 

“June 2015 Resident Grievance”), complaining, “We need RECK.  We haven’t had Reck in days.  

Fuck the empire.  Just cause there [sic] here doesn’t mean we don’t gotta have reck.”  (Pls.’ Ex. 

57 [422-57].)  Plaintiffs have identified no evidence that anyone at Fox knew that detainees were 

forced to exercise on their pods during Fox’s visit.  

Classrooms.  The JTDC also houses the Nancy B. Jefferson School, which is part of the 

Chicago Public School system and serves detainees year-round with breaks in June and August.  

(Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 33; Fox Summ. J. Mot. at 17.)  The school’s classrooms are located on the 

second floor of the JTDC and are used for classes, after-school programming, recreation, and 

commissary.  (Dunlap Rpt. ¶ 67.)  On normal school days, JTDC staff transport detainees from 

their pods to the second-floor classrooms.  (Taylor Decl. ¶ 13(a).)  Although Fox never filmed in 

the classrooms, the JTDC allowed Fox to use classrooms to store equipment and give the crew 

a place to rest.  (Resp. to SOF ¶¶ 21–22.)  During Fox’s June and August filming dates, the school 

was on summer break.  (Resp. to SOF ¶ 42.)  During the July filming session, however, Fox 

occupied classrooms during three scheduled days of school.  (Id. ¶¶ 41–43.)   
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On those three days in July, detainees remained in their pods for school, and teachers 

travelled to the individual pods to instruct the students.  (Id. ¶ 43.)  T.S., one of the named plaintiffs 

in this case, had school instruction in his pod for one or two of the three affected July days.2  He 

testified that, during filming, many of his teachers did not show up, and those that did show up 

arrived late and left early, while the detainees just “continued to play cards and watch TV . . . 

[until] it was time for [the teacher] to roll off.”  (Defs.’ Ex. 22 [412-22] (hereinafter “T.S. Dep.”) at 

30:4–31:21, 32:18–33:24.)  Kenya Taylor, who then worked at JTDC as a Youth Development 

Specialist, stated, “It was harder to maintain discipline during school because there were more 

distractions and temptations on the pods (televisions, rooms and beds).”  (Taylor Decl. ¶¶ 1, 3, 

21.)  JTDC detainees had taken classes in their pods on previous occasions, for example when 

guests such as Congressman John Lewis had come to speak at the facility.  (Defs.’ Updated Ex. 

17 [431-2] at 129:23–130:24.)  Earl Dunlap, the JTDC’s former Transitional Administrator, testified 

that in another instance, JTDC’s administration had decided to switch to on-pod schooling due to 

a safety issue.3  (Defs.’ Ex. 60 [431-7] (hereinafter “May Dunlap Dep.”) at 27:4–10.)  Plaintiff’s 

psychiatric expert Dr. Louis Kraus4 testified that while, in general, missing “a week of school here 

or there” is “likely not going to have a long-term impact on your general educational needs,” and 

“[o]ne or two days may not impact the general education,” such disruptions “may impact the youth 

for other reasons.”  (Defs.’ Ex. 53 [412-53] (hereinafter “Kraus Dep.”) at 58:4–59:4.)  Dr. Kraus 

 
2 T.S. testified that, on July 14, he left the jail to appear in court.  (T.S. Dep. at 136:1–

24.)  Defendants’ Local Rule 56.1 statement claims that T.S. was confined to his individual cell 
for a disciplinary violation on July 15, but they have cited no evidence in the record to support that 
statement.  (Resp. to SOF ¶ 47.) 

 
3 Dunlap has experience administering the JTDC, and Plaintiffs have retained him 

as an expert witness based on his “50 years of experience in the profession of juvenile justice 
and specifically in the area of juvenile detention.”  (Dunlap Rpt. ¶¶ 2–3.) 

 
4 Among other things, Dr. Louis Kraus is a Professor and Chief of Child and 

Adolescent Psychiatry at Rush University Medical Center in Chicago, Illinois and has worked with 
juveniles in correctional settings for the past 28 years.  (Kraus Rpt. ¶ 1.) 
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did not specify what those “other reasons” are.  Plaintiffs have provided no evidence that Fox 

knew that school was in session during the July filming session. 

The second-floor classrooms, and other second-floor areas such as the library, are also 

ordinarily used for after-school programming such as “Free Write” and nutrition education.  (Resp. 

to SOAF ¶ 37; Pls.’ Ex. 60 [422-60]; Pls.’ Ex. 62 [422-62]; Buckingham Dep, Ex. E to Defs.’ Class 

Cert. Mot. [248-5] at 54:1–11.)  During the weeks when Fox was filming, the JTDC postponed or 

cancelled a number of these programs.  (Resp. to SOF ¶ 44.)  The JTDC also eliminated or 

postponed some commissary visits to the second-floor classrooms during filming.  (Resp. to 

PSOAF ¶ 39.)  “Commissary” involved opportunities to buy snacks, as well as activities like ping 

pong and video games.  (PSOAF ¶ 39.)  Not all commissary visits were cancelled, however.  

(Defs.’ Ex. 62 [431-9] at 2 (noting that on June 23, 2015, JTDC employees “escorted residents to 

classroom 319 for commissary”).)  Again, there is no evidence that anyone at Fox knew that the 

JTDC cancelled any programs or commissary visits to accommodate filming. 

Visitation room.  JTDC typically dedicates a room on the second floor for detainees to 

meet visitors such as parents or grandparents.  (Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 11.)  That room is 1302 square 

feet and contains twelve tables.  (Id.; Defs.’ Ex. 35 [412-35] (hereinafter “Robinson Decl.”) ¶ 4.)  

Fox filmed in this visitation room on at least some of its days at the JTDC.  (Resp. to PSOAF 

¶ 30.)  Visitation continued on every day of filming; JTDC used classrooms as a substitute 

visitation area.  (Resp. to SOF ¶¶ 65, 70; July 31 Robinson Email at 3.)  The substitute visitation 

area was somewhat smaller:  it was just 1148 square feet and could accommodate just eight 

visitors at a time instead of twelve.  (Robinson Decl. ¶ 6; Pls.’ Ex. 47 [422-47] at 2, 7.)  Robinson 

testified that he “personally designed the table arrangement [in the substitute room] . . . to ensure 

that visitors had space and privacy consistent with” the regular visitation space.  (Robinson Decl. 

¶ 6.)  Nonetheless, two detainees testified that they felt there was less privacy during their visits 

in the alternate locations.  (T.S. Dep. 43:14–44:5; Defs.’ Ex. 21 [412-21] (hereinafter “Q.B. Dep.”) 
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at 64:3–14.)  It is undisputed that “[t]here is no evidence that [Fox] knew or had reason to know 

that the JTDC had moved visitation to a classroom, . . . the dimensions or layout of that 

[classroom], or the impact that the shift may have had . . . if any.”  (Resp. to SOF ¶ 67.) 

Intake.  Fox also used Pod 3A for storage and Pod 3B for filming.  (Defs.’ Ex. 20 at 2–4.)  

As noted, these pods ordinarily serve as two of three “Alpha” intake pods, where the JTDC 

screens and assesses new detainees upon admission.  (Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 29.)  During Fox’s 

visits, the JTDC transferred detainees housed in Pods 3A and 3B to other pods.  (Pls.’ Ex. 66.)  

At least 14 residents in Pod 3A were transferred to other pods.  (Id.)  This forced the JTDC to “fill 

up” other pods “with 15 and 16 residents each.”  (Id.)  While each JTDC pod was built to hold 

either 18 or 16 occupants, for safety reasons the JTDC’s written policies limit the functional 

operating capacity of each pod to 14 or 12 occupants, respectively.  (Pls.’ Ex. 67 [422-67] Part 

IV(a).)  Plaintiffs’ experts, Mr. Dunlap and Dr. Kraus, stated in their reports that such overcrowding 

put the detainees’ safety at risk.  (Dunlap Rpt. ¶¶ 53, 57–58; Kraus Rpt. ¶ 38.)  Although 

occupancy in certain pods regularly exceeded functional capacity independent of the Empire 

filming, the days in June when Fox filmed saw a significant increase in the number of pods that 

exceeded their functional capacity.  (Compare Defs.’ Ex. 37 [412-37] (hereinafter “Pod 

Populations”), at 1–20, with id. at 21–26.)  Plaintiffs have identified no evidence that the JTDC 

informed Fox that its use of Pods 3A and 3B would force JTDC to overpopulate other pods. 

General harms.  Dr. Kraus opined that forcing child-detainees to remain in their pods with 

fewer activities magnifies the psychological harm associated with keeping children in a detention 

center.  (Kraus Rpt. ¶ 30(a)–(b).)  JTDC’s current director of mental health, Dr. Brian Conant, 

agreed.  (Pls.’ Ex. 11 [422-11] at 177:15–178:7; see also Dunlap Rpt. ¶¶ 9, 65–67.)  Taylor, the 

Youth Development Specialist, noticed that during filming, the detainees on her pods felt “cooped 

up” and “there was a feeling of more tension, stress and anxiety on the pods where [she] worked.”  

(Taylor Decl. ¶ 22.) 
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Alonzo, in her capacity as the JTDC’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness,5 testified that nobody at 

JTDC “notif[ied] Twentieth Century Fox Television that it was disrupting the normal operations of 

the JTDC.”  (Defs.’ Ex. 6 [412-6] at 86:12–15.) 

3. T.S, Q.B., and H.C. 

Plaintiffs have presented three representatives of the putative class: T.S., Q.B., and H.C.6  

Each is a former resident of the JTDC and was detained at the JTDC on some of the days in 

June, July, and August 2015 when Fox filmed Empire.  (Resp. to SOF ¶¶ 1–2.) 

T.S.  T.S. resided at the JTDC from December 3, 2014 until September 24, 2015.  (Id. 

¶ 37.)  While Fox was filming, T.S. recalls multiple days when JTDC provided no off-pod exercise 

and instead brought recreation specialists to the pods to engage the detainees in minimal exercise 

activities, such as twenty jumping jacks.  (Pls.’ Ex. 106 [422-106] (hereinafter “T.S. Interrog.”), 

¶ 13.)  T.S. also missed a Free Write session—and possibly a parenting class—that were 

cancelled due to Fox’s presence.  (Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 10(a); T.S. Interrog. ¶¶ 19–21.)  Due to 

Fox’s presence at the JTDC, T.S. had school classes in his pod for one or two days during the 

July filming period.  (T.S. Interrog. ¶ 15.)  Finally, T.S.’s mother visited him in the “less private” 

setting of the substitute visitation room, and her visit with him was shorter than usual.  (Id. ¶ 16.) 

Q.B.  Q.B. resided at the JTDC during the June and August filming sessions.  (Resp. to 

SOF ¶ 38.)  Q.B. also had recreation on his pod for at least one day.  (Pls.’ Ex. 105 [422-105] 

¶ 13.)  On one of the days that Fox was filming, Q.B.’s grandmother attempted to visit him but 

was turned away.  (Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 10(b).)  Defendants dispute Plaintiffs’ suggestion that 

 
5 Alonzo gave two separate depositions: one that appears to be in her capacity as 

JTDC’s General Counsel (Alonzo Dep.), and one on behalf of the JTDC pursuant to Federal Rule 
of Civil Procedure 30(b)(6), which allows an organization to designate a person to testify on its 
behalf.  (Defs.’ Ex. 6.) 

 
6 Plaintiffs have sought leave to amend their complaint by, among other things, 

adding H.C. as a class representative.  (Mot. to Am. Compl. [365].)  The court will address their 
motion below, but for now, the court includes all relevant facts about H.C. 
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Q.B.’s grandmother’s inability to visit with Q.B. had anything to do with the number of tables 

available, and, indeed, Plaintiffs fail to cite any evidence that supports this claim.  (Id.) 

H.C.  H.C. resided at the JTDC from May 2015 to June 2016.  (Resp. to SOF ¶ 39.)  H.C. 

had recreation on his pod for at least one day during the filming (Pls.’ Ex. 107 [422-107] 

(hereinafter “H.C. Interrog.”), ¶ 10), and missed a Free Write session that was cancelled due to 

Fox’s presence.  (Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 10(c).)  Like T.S., H.C. was in court on one of the three days 

that Fox filmed in July but had school on his pod for at least one day.  (Resp. to SOF ¶ 46; H.C. 

Interrog. ¶ 8.)  It is undisputed that H.C. did not leave his pod for at least one 24-hour period 

during Fox’s filming, but the parties disagree as to why.7  (Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 10(c).)  

4. Dixon’s involvement 

Dixon testified that he agreed to allow Fox to film Empire at the JTDC for a number of 

reasons.  He felt it “would be good for the kids,” “would create a certain energy in the facility,” and 

would give everyone a “chance to see the actors.”  (Dixon Dep. at 111:23–112:8.)  The only 

scheduled interaction between the detainees and the actors was a meeting in which actor Chris 

Rock spoke to a group of approximately 24 detainees for about 30 minutes during the June filming.  

(Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 47.)  Terrence Howard also met with some of the detainees after filming 

concluded and later returned to the facility to develop a “book club.”  (Dixon Dep. at 205:19–

207:11.)  After the June filming session, a letter from the JTDC’s Division of Resident Advocacy 

& Quality of Life to JTDC administrator Millicent McCoy commented on the effects of Empire’s 

visit, and identified a number of benefits from the filming, including “excited-happy-enthusiastic 

staff,” “elevated energy level,” and increased staff interaction.  (Pls.’ Ex. 51 [422-51] (hereinafter 

“Resident Advocacy Letter”), at 2–3.)  A July 31 email from the Acting Project Director Robinson 

listed similar benefits.  (July 31 Robinson Email at 4.)  Both communications, however, also listed 

 
7 Defendants note that some other residents of H.C.’s pod attended off-pod activities 

on the day in question.  (Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 10(c); see also Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. [397] 
at 39 (citing Justice Center Shift Report of 7/13/15, Opp’n Ex. LL).) 
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a number of negative effects of the filming, including interruptions to school, recreation, and intake 

(id.), as well as the fact that residents did not have the opportunity to “burn off some of their 

energy” in the school area and yards during the first week of their June summer break.  (Resident 

Advocacy Letter at 2.) 

Dixon, for his part, invited his wife to the filming and directed Akins to ask Breen to bring 

the actors to Dixon’s office for photos before the shoot.  (Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 49.)  Dixon was 

photographed with many of the Empire stars.  (Id. ¶ 52.)  When Fox asked to return to film in 

August, Dixon’s assistant said, “[I]f Dixon approve[s] this [Breen] will need to get Dixon a directors 

[sic] chair.”  (Pls.’ Ex. 86 [422-86].)  Breen did have such a chair made and gave it to Dixon.  

(Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 53.) 

On July 15, 2015, Dixon received an email from Professor Thomas Geraghty concerning 

the conditions imposed on the JTDC detainees during Empire filming.  (Pls.’ Ex. 90 [422-90] at 

9.)  At the time, the JTDC was subject to monitoring under the ruling in Doe v. Cook County, No. 

99-cv-3945, Dkt. No. 786 (N.D. Ill. May 15, 2015).  In Doe, Judge Holderman appointed Dunlap 

to monitor the JTDC as a “Court Appointed Expert” and imposed a three-month observation period 

on the JTDC from May 20, 2015 to August 20, 2015.  Id. at 1–2.  In the July 15, 2015 email, 

Geraghty raised concerns that, in light of the Empire filming, the JTDC might be, among other 

things, putting juvenile detainees on lockdown.  (Pls.’ Ex. 90 [422-90] at 9.)  Dixon responded by 

assuring Geraghty that the Empire filming had “no impact on regular programming for our kids 

other than changing the locations of some programs and visits.”  (Id. at 4.) 

On August 7, Breen reached out to Dixon to propose that Fox return on August 12 for a 

third session of filming.  (Pls.’ Ex. 93 [422-93] at 2–3.)  When Dixon forwarded the request to 

Alonzo, Alonzo replied, “I don’t advise having them come before the Doe party meeting on 8/20,” 

to which Dixon responded, “Agreed.”  (Id.)  August 20, 2015 was the date that Judge Holderman 

had set for terminating the court-imposed monitoring of the JTDC.  (Dunlap Rpt. ¶ 22; Doe, No. 
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99-cv-3945, Dkt. No. 786 at 1.)  Alonzo denied any nefarious purpose for this advice, testifying 

that it simply would have been “burdensome” to accommodate filming while preparing for the Doe 

meeting because of the “time, effort, [and] preparation for the Doe meeting” and “just having a lot 

of people on site.”  (Defs.’ Updated Ex. 42 [431-4] at 91:12–93:6.) 

5. Procedural history 

 Plaintiffs T.S. and Q.B. filed this lawsuit on behalf of themselves and others similarly 

situated on August 24, 2016.  They asserted constitutional and state-law claims against the Fox 

entities, Cook County, Dixon, and numerous John Does.  The case was assigned to the Honorable 

Amy J. St. Eve.  On October 5, 2016, Plaintiffs filed their First Amended Class Action Complaint 

(“FAC”) [23].  The FAC added a Defendant: the Chief Judge of the Circuit Court of Cook County, 

in his official capacity (hereinafter the “Chief Judge”).  The court later granted in part and denied 

in part Defendants’ Rule 12(b)(6) motions to dismiss.  See T.S. v. Twentieth Century Fox 

Television, No. 16 C 8303, 2017 WL 1425596 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 20, 2017).  Plaintiffs filed a Second 

Amended Class Action Complaint (“SAC”) [88] on May 23, 2017.  The Fox Defendants filed a 

second Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, which the court granted in part and denied in part.  See 

T.S. v. Twentieth Century Fox Television, No. 16 C 8303, 2017 WL 4620841 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 17, 

2017). 

 The following claims from the SAC moved forward:  a claim for violation of the Fourteenth 

Amendment’s due process clause, asserted under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against Dixon, Cook County, 

and the Chief Judge (Count I); a state-law claim for breach of fiduciary duty against Dixon (Count 

VII); a state-law claim for inducement of breach of fiduciary duty against the Fox Defendants 

(Count VIII); a state-law claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress against Dixon, Cook 

County, and the Chief Judge (Count IX); and a state-law claim for unjust enrichment against the 
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Fox Defendants (Count XIII).8  Two remaining counts do not set forth independent claims but 

allege theories for holding Cook County liable for the acts of its agents: a state-law respondeat 

superior claim (Count XI), and a state-law claim for indemnification against Cook Country (Count 

XII).9 

 On May 23, 2018, the case was reassigned to this court after Judge St. Eve was confirmed 

to the Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit.  On January 16, 2020, the court denied without 

prejudice Defendants’ motion to strike the class allegations [215] and Plaintiffs’ motion for class 

certification [235].  See T.S. v. Twentieth Century Fox Television, 334 F.R.D. 518 (N.D. Ill. 2020).  

As discussed in more detail below, the court determined that although some of Plaintiffs’ claims 

may be amenable to class treatment, the proposed class definition was overbroad.  See id. at 

525.   

 Later, on cross-motions for partial summary judgment, the court determined that the Chief 

Judge is entitled to Eleventh Amendment immunity because he acts on behalf of the State of 

Illinois, rather than Cook County, in his administrative role with respect to the JTDC.  See T.S. v. 

Twentieth Century Fox Television, No. 16 C 8303, ___ F. Supp. 3d ___, 2020 WL 6870809, at *3 

(N.D. Ill. Nov. 23, 2020).  Therefore, the court granted the Chief Judge’s motion for summary 

judgment on all claims against him.  See id.  Further, based on the parties’ stipulation, the court 

granted summary judgment in favor of Plaintiff’s claim that Defendant Dixon was the Chief Judge’s 

final decisionmaker with respect to the Empire filming.  See id. at *2. 

 
8  In the SAC, Plaintiffs asserted a claim against Cook County and/or the Chief Judge 

for liability under Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. of City of New York, 436 U.S. 658 (1978).  Plaintiffs 
withdrew that claim in their brief opposing summary judgment (see Pls.’ Br. in Opp’n to Mot. for 
Summ. J. (“Pls.’ Opp’n”) [421-1] at 50 n.10), so the court dismisses it with prejudice.  The court 
also notes that the SAC (and the proposed Third Amended Complaint) asserts Counts VII and 
VIII against Doe Defendants.  The time for identifying and serving the Doe Defendants passed 
long ago.  See FED. R. CIV. P. 4(m).  Therefore, the court assumes that the Plaintiffs are not 
pursuing any claims against those Defendants and dismisses them without prejudice.  See id. 

 
9  The parties do not discuss respondeat superior liability in their briefs on summary 

judgment and class certification, but they do address indemnification.  See infra Part II.C. 
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DISCUSSION 

 Summary judgment is appropriate if the moving party shows that there is no genuine 

dispute of material fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  FED. R. 

CIV. P. 56(a).  A fact is material if it might affect the outcome of the suit under governing law, and 

a dispute is genuine if “the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the 

nonmoving party.”  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986).  In ruling on a 

motion for summary judgment, the court construes all facts and draws all reasonable inferences 

in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.  Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248; Lopez v. Sheriff 

of Cook Cnty., 993 F.3d 981, 984 (7th Cir. 2021). 

 Under Rule 23, a proposed class must satisfy four threshold requirements: numerosity, 

commonality, typicality, and adequacy of representation.  FED. R. CIV. P. 23(a).  The class must 

then meet the requirements of one of the categories of class actions in Rule 23(b).  See Messner 

v. Northshore Univ. HealthSys., 669 F.3d 802, 811 (7th Cir. 2012).  Plaintiffs seek certification of 

three classes under Rule 23(b)(3), which requires a showing that “questions of law or fact common 

to class members predominate over any questions affecting only individual members, and that a 

class action is superior to other available methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the 

controversy.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 23(b)(3).  Plaintiffs also seek to bring their unjust enrichment claims 

against the Fox Defendants under Rule 23(b)(1)(B), which is appropriate when “adjudications with 

respect to individual class members . . . would be dispositive of the interests of the other members 

not parties to the individual adjudications or would substantially impair or impede their ability to 

protect their interests.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 23(b)(1)(B). 

I. Conditions of Confinement Claims under § 1983 

 Defendants Cook County and Dixon have moved for summary judgment on Plaintiffs’ 

conditions of confinement claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  In the alternative, Defendant Dixon 
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argues that qualified immunity applies.  Because the merits of Plaintiffs’ § 1983 claims are closely 

intertwined with the qualified immunity inquiry, the court addresses them together. 

A. Merits 

 The Fourteenth Amendment’s due process clause prohibits conditions of confinement that 

amount to punishment of pretrial detainees.  Kingsley v. Hendrickson, 576 U.S. 389, 400 (2015) 

(“pretrial detainees (unlike convicted prisoners) cannot be punished at all”); Hardeman v. Curran, 

933 F.3d 816, 821–22 (7th Cir. 2019).10  “[I]f a particular condition or restriction of pretrial detention 

is reasonably related to a legitimate governmental objective, it does not, without more, amount to 

‘punishment.’”  Bell v. Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520, 539 (1979).  “Conversely, if a restriction or condition 

is not reasonably related to a legitimate goal—if it is arbitrary or purposeless—a court permissibly 

may infer that the purpose of the governmental action is punishment that may not constitutionally 

be inflicted upon detainees qua detainees.”  Id.  A combination of conditions of confinement, “even 

if not individually serious enough to work constitutional violations, may violate the Constitution . . . 

when they have ‘a mutually enforcing effect that produces the deprivation of a single, identifiable 

human need.’”  Budd v. Motley, 711 F.3d 840, 842–43 (7th Cir. 2013) (quoting Wilson v. Seiter, 

501 U.S. 294, 304 (1991)).  In Kingsley v. Hendrickson, the Supreme Court clarified that “a pretrial 

detainee can prevail by providing only objective evidence that the challenged governmental action 

is not rationally related to a legitimate governmental objective or that it is excessive in relation to 

that purpose.”  Kingsley, 576 U.S. at 398 (emphases added).  In other words, a pretrial detainee 

need not show evidence of a defendant’s subjective intent to punish.  Id at 397–98.   

 Although Kingsley addressed conditions-of-confinement claims in the excessive force 

context, the Seventh Circuit has extended Kingsley’s objective unreasonableness inquiry to “all 

Fourteenth Amendment conditions-of-confinement claims brought by pretrial detainees.”  

 
10  By contrast, convicted prisoners may bring claims for unconstitutional conditions 

of confinement under the Eighth Amendment’s cruel and unusual punishment clause.  See 
Hardeman, 933 F.3d at 821 (citing Kingsley, 576 U.S. at 400). 
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Hardeman, 933 F.3d at 823; see also Miranda v. Cnty. of Lake, 900 F.3d 335, 352 (7th Cir. 2018) 

(applying Kingsley to pretrial detainee’s claims of inadequate medical care).  Courts must also 

consider whether the defendant acted purposefully, knowingly, or recklessly.  See Kingsley, 576 

U.S. at 396 (“[L]iability for negligently inflicted harm is categorically beneath the threshold of 

constitutional due process”) (emphasis in original).11  Defendant Dixon does not dispute that he 

personally approved both the filming of Empire at the JTDC and operational changes that enabled 

the filming.  Indeed, the parties previously stipulated that Dixon was the final decisionmaker with 

respect to “whether to permit the staging and filming of scenes for Empire at the [JTDC]” and 

“whether and how the JTDC's operations would be altered in order to accommodate the Empire 

filming.”  T.S., 2020 WL 6870809 at *2. 

 To survive summary judgment on their conditions-of-confinement claims, therefore, 

Plaintiffs must show a genuine dispute of material fact regarding whether the conditions at issue 

were “not rationally related to a legitimate governmental objective” or were “excessive in relation 

to that purpose.”  Kingsley, 576 U.S. at 398.  In Mulvania v. Sheriff of Rock Island Cnty., pretrial 

detainees challenged a jail’s policy requiring female detainees to wear either white underwear or 

no underwear at all.  850 F.3d 849, 852 (7th Cir. 2017).  The Seventh Circuit reversed the district 

court’s grant of summary judgment for defendants, concluding that genuine disputes of material 

 
11  At least one judge on the Seventh Circuit would impose a third requirement: that 

the conditions in question be “objectively serious.”  Hardeman, 933 F.3d at 827 (Sykes, J., 
concurring).  But see McCann v. Ogle Cnty., 909 F.3d 881, 886 (7th Cir. 2018) (identifying only 
two inquiries for due process challenges to pretrial detainees’ medical care: (1) “whether the [ ] 
defendants acted purposefully, knowingly, or perhaps even recklessly when they considered the 
consequences of their handling of [plaintiff’s] case,” and (2) “whether the challenged conduct was 
objectively reasonable”); accord Clark v. Trammell, No. 18 C 5142, 2021 WL 979157, at *4 (N.D. 
Ill. Mar. 16, 2021) (Lee, J.) (applying McCann’s two-step framework). 

Chief Judge Sykes’s concurrence draws upon the Eighth Amendment deliberate 
indifference standard for claims brought by convicted prisoners.  See Hardeman, 933 F.3d at 827 
(Sykes, J., concurring) (“only ‘objectively [and] sufficiently serious’ deprivations are actionable as 
a violation of the Constitution”) (quoting Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 834 (1994)).  This court 
has previously quoted the Hardeman concurrence, see T.S., 334 F.R.D. at 529, 536, but 
acknowledges here that the Seventh Circuit has not yet held that “objectively serious” is a required 
element for all Fourteenth Amendment conditions-of-confinement claims. 
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fact as to whether the policy was rationally related to a government interest—or, even if it was 

rationally related, whether the policy was excessive in light of detainees’ dignitary interests—

precluded summary judgment.  Id. at 857–58.   

 Plaintiffs in this case have made a showing sufficient to survive summary judgment as 

well.  They have identified facts suggesting that Dixon’s decision to allow Fox to film at the JTDC 

was not rationally related to a government purpose, or that the conditions imposed to facilitate the 

filming were excessive in light of that purpose.  Dixon testified that he believed filming “would be 

good for the staff” and “good for the kids.”  (Defs.’ SOF ¶ 26 (citing Dixon Dep. 112:1–8).)  There 

is some evidence that staff morale improved during filming, possibly because filming provided 

opportunities for staff to earn overtime.  (See Defs.’ SOF ¶ 36; PSOAF ¶ 54.)  But Plaintiffs have 

offered facts suggesting there was little effort to encourage detainee meet-and-greets with the 

stars, such that any potential benefit the detainees would have derived from such contacts was 

minimal.  (See Pls.’ Opp’n at 21–22.)  Some detainees were able to meet briefly with actors Chris 

Rock and Terrence Howard in June, but there were no interactions between Empire’s cast and 

crew and the detainees during the July or August filming periods.  (PSOAF ¶ 47.)  A reasonable 

jury could find that Dixon’s motivations were more personal ones:  He met and took photos with 

all of Empire’s stars, and he even received a “director’s chair” to use during the August filming.  

(Id. ¶¶ 49–53.)  There also is some evidence that Dixon took steps to minimize scrutiny of the 

filming by Professor Geraghty and Judge Holderman, who was monitoring the JTDC as part of 

the Doe litigation.  (Id. ¶¶ 56–58.)  A reasonable jury could conclude that Dixon lacked a legitimate 

governmental purpose for imposing the challenged conditions, or that the conditions were 

excessive in light of that purpose.  See Mulvania, 850 F.3d at 856–58. 

 It is not enough, however, for Plaintiffs to show that Defendant Dixon may have violated 

their constitutional rights.  Plaintiffs are suing Dixon in his individual capacity (Pls.’ Opp’n at 45), 

meaning that he may raise qualified immunity as an affirmative defense.  Kentucky v. Graham, 
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473 U.S. 159, 166 (1985) (“[A]n official in a personal-capacity action may, depending on his 

position, be able to assert personal immunity defenses,” including qualified immunity.).12  If Dixon 

is entitled to qualified immunity, then Plaintiffs’ § 1983 claims cannot go forward. 

B. Qualified Immunity 

 The doctrine of qualified immunity consists of two related inquiries: “first, whether the 

constitutional right asserted by the plaintiffs was clearly established at the time the defendants 

acted; and second, whether defendants’ actions violated that clearly established right.”  

Hardeman, 933 F.3d at 820 (citations omitted).  “If either inquiry is answered in the negative, the 

defendant official is protected by qualified immunity.”  Id. (citations omitted); see also Pearson v. 

Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 236 (2009) (concluding that courts may exercise “discretion in deciding 

which of the two prongs of the qualified immunity analysis should be addressed first”).  Once 

defendants have raised qualified immunity as an affirmative defense, plaintiffs bear the burden of 

showing that the constitutional right was “clearly established.”  Hardeman, 933 F.3d at 820; see 

also Mannoia v. Farrow, 476 F.3d 453, 457 (7th Cir. 2007) (“Although the privilege of qualified 

immunity is a defense, the plaintiff carries the burden of defeating it.”).  Courts should not define 

clearly established law “at a high level of generality.”  Hardeman, 933 F.3d at 820 (citations 

omitted).  “An appropriately defined right is clearly established if there is a closely analogous—

though not necessarily identical—case identifying that right, or if the defendant's conduct was so 

egregious and unreasonable that . . . no reasonable [official] could have thought he was acting 

lawfully.”  Id. (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).  “The dispositive question is whether 

 
12  Because Plaintiffs’ claims against Dixon are in his individual capacity, not his 

official capacity, the County Defendants’ Eleventh Amendment arguments are irrelevant.  See 
Graham, 473 U.S. at 167 (“The only immunities that can be claimed in an official-capacity action 
are forms of sovereign immunity that the entity, qua entity, may possess, such as the Eleventh 
Amendment.”).  The court also notes that Mathlock v. Fleming, No. 18-cv-6406, 2019 WL 2866726 
(N.D. Ill. July 3, 2019), is inapposite here.  In Mathlock, Dixon and the Chief Judge were named 
as defendants in their official capacities, and the district court concluded that both had Eleventh 
Amendment immunity.  Id. at *4.  In any case, the fact that an officer has Eleventh Amendment 
immunity in a single case does not mean the officer has such immunity in all cases. 
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the violative nature of particular conduct is clearly established.”  Id. (internal quotation marks and 

citations omitted, emphasis in original).   

 At a high level of generality, the right of pretrial detainees to be free of conditions of 

confinement imposed for no legitimate governmental purpose is clearly established.  See Bell, 

441 U.S. at 539.  “The dispositive question,” however, “is whether the violative nature of particular 

conduct is clearly established.”  Hardeman, 933 F.3d at 820 (emphasis in original).  As discussed 

above, the parties dispute whether the challenged conditions were objectively unreasonable or 

were excessive in relation to a legitimate government purpose.  In the absence of an analogous 

case holding that similar conditions are unconstitutional, the court cannot conclude, as a matter 

of law, that pretrial detainees have a clearly established right to be free of the arguably modest 

disruptions at issue here. 

 The two cases that Plaintiffs cite in their brief opposing summary judgment are not 

analogous.  In Demery v. Arpaio, the Ninth Circuit held that the practice of installing webcams in 

a county jail and livestreaming the video online violated detainees’ Fourteenth Amendment rights 

because the webcams were not reasonably related to a nonpunitive purpose.  378 F.3d 1020, 

1030–31 (9th Cir. 2004).  Applying Bell, the court reasoned that “the webcams did not improve 

the security of the pretrial detention center when closed-circuit video cameras were already 

present,” and “turning pretrial detainees into the unwilling objects of the latest reality show” did 

not serve a legitimate goal, such as ensuring detainees’ attendance at trial or promoting prison 

safety.  Id. at 1030, 1031.  In Robles v. Prince George’s Cnty., the Fourth Circuit held that police 

officers violated a pretrial detainee’s due process rights when they tied him to a metal pole in a 

deserted parking lot and left him there for approximately ten minutes.  302 F.3d 262, 269–70 (4th 

Cir. 2002).  The court observed that the detainee’s injury “was more than de minimis” because he 

was “tied up in a dark and deserted location in the middle of the night” and “did not know when or 

if anyone would come to rescue him or who might discover him.”  Id. at 270. 
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 Neither Demery nor Robles dealt with the kinds of conditions at issue in this case: 

operational disruptions to a juvenile detention facility.  Plaintiffs have not pointed to cases 

involving, for example, changes to the location of schooling or recreation; missed opportunities 

for enrichment programs; marginally reduced privacy during visitation; or “overcrowding” in pods 

that nonetheless provide detainees with their own rooms.13  The court is sensitive to the fact that 

Plaintiffs are or were juveniles at the time of the filming, and that the standard for substantive due 

process violations may well be lower for juvenile pretrial detainees than for adult detainees.  See 

Bergren v. City of Milwaukee, 811 F.2d 1139, 1143 (7th Cir. 1987) (“In assessing whether the 

treatment of the detained juvenile satisfies the requirements of due process, it is quite 

appropriate—indeed necessary—to consider that in such an environment juveniles may indeed 

have different needs and more importantly, different capacities than adults.”); Doe v. Cook Cnty., 

No. 99 C 3945, 1999 WL 1069244, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 22, 1999) (“[T]he 14th amendment due 

process standard should, as a general matter, be more liberally construed when applied to 

juvenile pretrial detainees.”).  But even under a more liberal standard, Plaintiffs have not identified 

an analogous case that would have put Defendant Dixon on notice that his conduct was 

unlawful.14 

 
13  The court notes that in Bell v. Wolfish, the Supreme Court held that the practice of 

“double-bunking” did not violate pretrial detainees’ constitutional rights.  Bell, 441 U.S. at 541.  
Here, there is no evidence that detainees had to share rooms; a pod may have had 15 or 16 
detainees, each with their own room, even though the JTDC’s internal policies set the “functional 
operating capacity” of a given pod at 14.  (See Defs.’ SOF ¶¶ 71–72; Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 40–41.)  
To be sure, Bell involved adult detainees rather than juveniles, but Plaintiffs have not provided 
precedent for their assertion that minor increases to pod population amount to a constitutional 
violation. 

 
14  In Bergren, for example, the Seventh Circuit held that a juvenile detainee who was 

arrested and held in custody for ten hours did not suffer unconstitutional conditions of confinement 
because he was not punished or confined for an excessive amount of time.  Bergren, 811 F.2d at 
1144 (“We stress that, in holding that the actions of the police officers in this case did not violate 
the minimum standards imposed by the federal constitution, we do not express in any way our 
approval of the methodology employed by the officers in this case.  We simply hold that, under 
these circumstances, there was no violation of the federal constitution.”). 
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 Plaintiffs are correct that, when determining whether a government official violated a 

constitutional right, courts should view the facts “in the light most favorable to the party asserting 

the injury.”  Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 201 (2001), overruled on other grounds by Pearson, 

555 U.S. at 236.  But if the right asserted is not clearly established, then the court need not 

proceed to the other qualified immunity inquiry.  See Hardeman, 933 F.3d at 820 (“If either inquiry 

is answered in the negative, the defendant official is protected by qualified immunity.”).  

Furthermore, this case does not involve such extreme circumstances that no reasonable officer 

could have concluded that the conditions were constitutionally permissible.  Compare Taylor v. 

Riojas, 141 S. Ct. 52, 53 (2020) (holding that correctional officers were not entitled to qualified 

immunity where inmate was confined in a pair of shockingly unsanitary cells for six days). 

 Because Plaintiffs have not met their burden, Defendant Dixon is entitled to qualified 

immunity on Plaintiffs’ § 1983 claims.  The court grants the County Defendants’ motion for 

summary judgment as to those claims. 

II. State-Law Claims 

 The following state-law claims remain: breach of fiduciary duty against Dixon (Count VII), 

intentional infliction of emotional distress against the County Defendants (Count IX), 

indemnification against Cook County (Count XII), inducement of a breach of fiduciary duty against 

the Fox Defendants (Count VIII), and unjust enrichment against the Fox Defendants (Count XIII).  

Now that the court has dismissed all of Plaintiffs’ federal claims, the court would ordinarily dismiss 

Plaintiffs’ remaining state law claims without prejudice.  Harvey v. Town of Merrillville, 649 F.3d 

526, 533 (7th Cir. 2011) (“[I]t is the well-established law of this circuit that the usual practice is to 

dismiss without prejudice state supplemental claims whenever all federal claims have been 

dismissed prior to trial.” (quoting Groce v. Eli Lilly & Co., 193 F.3d 496, 501 (7th Cir.1999))).  Here, 

however, given this case’s lengthy procedural history and the extensive judicial resources 

expended thus far, the court will exercise its discretion to retain jurisdiction over the remaining 
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state law claims.  See, e.g., Timm, 32 F.3d at 276–77 (holding that it was not improper for district 

court to retain jurisdiction over state claims after granting summary judgment on only federal claim 

in the case). 

A. Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

1. Merits 

 Plaintiffs argue that Dixon owed them a fiduciary duty and breached it by permitting the 

Empire filming.  Specifically, they contend that Dixon “misdirected [the JTDC’s] resources for his 

own benefit and that of Fox, to the detriment of the youth who had been placed in his care.”  (Pls.’ 

Opp’n at 38.)  By Plaintiffs’ account, Dixon’s actions injured them by exacerbating the 

psychological impact of incarceration and endangered them by increasing the risk of physical 

violence at the JTDC. 

 To prevail on their claim for breach of fiduciary duty under Illinois law, Plaintiffs must show 

that “(1) a fiduciary duty existed, (2) that duty was breached, and (3) the breach of the duty 

proximately caused damages.”  Chicago Title Ins. Co. v. Sinikovic, 125 F. Supp. 3d 769, 777 

(N.D. Ill. 2015) (citing Gross v. Town of Cicero, Ill., 619 F.3d 697, 709 (7th Cir. 2010)).  This court 

has repeatedly recognized that “the state has a duty, under clearly established principles of 

constitutional and tort law, ‘to assume some responsibility’ for the ‘safety and general well-being’ 

of detainees.”  T.S., 334 F.R.D. at 538 n.14 (quoting DeShaney v. Winnebago Cnty. Dep’t of Soc. 

Servs., 489 U.S. 189, 199–200 (1989)); see also T.S., 2017 WL 1425596 at *10 (same).  

Defendants agree that detention center officials owe detainees a duty to provide “for basic human 

needs, such as ‘food, clothing, shelter, medical care, and reasonable safety.’”  (County Defs.’ 

Summ. J. Mot. [414] at 27 (quoting DeShaney, 489 U.S. at 200)).  But they argue that the duty is 

not a fiduciary one.  (See, e.g., County Defs.’ Summ. J. Mot. at 27; County Defs.’ Summ. J. Reply 

[428] at 1 (maintaining that “no Illinois case, state or federal, has held that detention officials are 

fiduciaries for detainees”).) 
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 In this court’s view, Defendants have defined the scope of their responsibility too narrowly.  

Illinois law recognizes a guardian-ward relationship as a type of fiduciary relationship.  See In re 

Estate of Gustafson, 268 Ill. App. 3d 404, 407, 644 N.E.2d 813, 816 (2d Dist. 1994).  At the motion 

to dismiss stage, Judge St. Eve recognized that Plaintiffs “were not officially adjudicated as 

‘wards’ of the court . . . during the relevant time period.”  T.S., 2017 WL 1425596 at *10.  She 

nevertheless agreed that Illinois law supports Plaintiffs’ theory that Dixon acted as their guardian 

while they were housed at the JTDC, and that he therefore owed them a fiduciary duty.  See id. 

(citing cases).  Defendants maintain that Judge St. Eve did not determine that Dixon’s duty 

“definitely was fiduciary in nature.”  (County Defs.’ Summ. J. Reply at 9.)  This court is comfortable 

concluding that it was.    

 Parks v. Kownacki supports this conclusion.  305 Ill. App. 3d 449, 461, 711 N.E.2d 1208, 

1216 (5th Dist. 1999), rev'd on other grounds, 193 Ill. 2d 164, 737 N.E.2d 287 (2000).  There, an 

Illinois appellate court determined that a guardian-ward relationship arose between a priest and 

a teenaged girl when the priest kept the girl “in the rectory as his housekeeper, [sent] her to school 

far away from her parents and family, and . . . exercise[d] all the control over her that a legal 

guardian would be allowed to exercise.”  Id.  Likewise, the court determined that the priest owed 

the girl a fiduciary duty because of this relationship.  See id.  The Illinois Supreme Court reversed 

the decision on other grounds and therefore did not expressly endorse these conclusions.  193 

Ill. 2d 164, 737 N.E.2d 287.  But the Court did state that when the priest “accepted the 

responsibility of plaintiff’s care and education, he took on the role of her guardian, even though 

he was not given that title by a court.”  Id. at 169, 737 N.E.2d at 290; see also Clayton v. Millers 

First Ins. Cos., 384 Ill. App. 3d 429, 436, 892 N.E.2d 613, 619 (5th Dist. 2008) (noting same).  The 

JTDC housed and educated these Plaintiffs while they were away from their parents, and Dixon 

“exercise[d] all the control over [them] that a legal guardian would be allowed to exercise.”  Parks, 
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305 Ill. App. 3d at 461, 711 N.E.2d at 1216.  So, like the priest in Parks, Dixon can fairly be said 

to have acted as Plaintiffs’ guardian and fiduciary while they were detained at the JTDC. 

 That Parks involved different kinds of harm does not change this conclusion.  See Parks, 

305 Ill. App. 3d at 454, 711 N.E.2d at 1211 (priest allegedly beat and sexually abused teenaged 

girl).  Nor do Defendants’ cited cases, in which, according to Defendants, the courts held either 

that “there is no fiduciary relationship between prison officials and detainees” or that “[any] 

fiduciary relationship is limited to physicians and detainee patients or . . . the handling of 

detainees’ funds.”  (County Defs.’ Summ. J. Mot. at 28.)  In the only cited case applying Illinois 

law, Day v. Jeffreys, the court stated that it was “unclear” whether the plaintiff’s claim for breach 

of fiduciary duty against the director of the Illinois Department Corrections was cognizable under 

a statute concerning sexually dangerous persons.  No. 19-CV-00945-NJR, 2019 WL 6701671, at 

*4 (S.D. Ill. Dec. 9, 2019).  Despite the uncertainty, the court denied the motion to dismiss the 

claim.  See id.  If anything, therefore, Day undermines Defendants’ position.  More importantly, 

neither Day nor the other cited cases (which are, in any event, not controlling authority) concerned 

juvenile detainees.  See id.; Surratt v. McClaran, 234 F. Supp. 3d 815 (E.D. Tex. 2016), aff'd sub 

nom. Surratt v. McClarin, 851 F.3d 389 (5th Cir. 2017); Rua v. Glodis, 52 F. Supp. 3d 84 (D. Mass. 

2014); Sperry v. Corizon Health, Inc., No. 18-3119-SAC, 2020 WL 905745 (D. Kan. Feb. 25, 

2020); Hernandez v. Cate, No. EDCV 11-00627 R AJW, 2014 WL 6473769 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 16, 

2014), report and recommendation adopted, No. EDCV11-00627 R AJW, 2014 WL 6606901 

(C.D. Cal. Nov. 18, 2014).  This line of cases does not disturb the basis for finding a fiduciary duty 

here: the guardian-ward relationship between Dixon and the JTDC detainees.   

 Defendants next argue that, even if Dixon owed Plaintiffs a fiduciary duty, the scope of the 

duty is the same as Dixon’s obligation to juveniles or pretrial detainees under the Fourteenth 

Amendment’s due process clause.  For support, they observe that the court has cited DeShaney, 

489 U.S. at 199–200, for the proposition that Dixon’s fiduciary duty involved protecting Plaintiffs’ 
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safety and well-being.  See, e.g., T.S., 2017 WL 1425596 at *10.  Defendants are correct that in 

the cited portion of DeShaney, the Supreme Court discussed a constitutional standard.  See 

DeShaney, 489 U.S. at 199–200 (explaining that when a state restrains a person’s liberty by 

taking him into custody, “the Constitution imposes upon it a corresponding duty to assume some 

responsibility for his safety and general well-being”).  But the DeShaney Court also emphasized 

that a state can “impose such affirmative duties of care and protection upon its agents as it 

wishes,” and that “not ‘all common-law duties owed by government actors 

were . . . constitutionalized by the Fourteenth Amendment.’”  Id. at 202 (quoting Daniels v. 

Williams, 474 U.S. 327, 335 (1986)); see also Daniels, 474 U.S. at 335 (“Jailers may owe a special 

duty of care to those in their custody under state tort law . . . .”).  Because DeShaney draws a 

distinction between constitutional obligations and state-law tort duties, it does not establish that 

Dixon’s fiduciary duty to Plaintiffs was congruent with his obligations to them under the Fourteenth 

Amendment.  See also, e.g., T.S., 2017 WL 1425596 at *10 (recognizing that Dixon’s duty to 

protect Plaintiffs has constitutional and tort-law dimensions). 

 Illinois courts require a child’s guardian-fiduciary to “protect the child from harm.”  Parks, 

305 Ill. App. 3d at 461, 711 N.E.2d at 1216 (citing People v. Watson, 103 Ill. App. 3d 992, 998, 

431 N.E.2d 1350, 1355 (4th Dist. 1982)).  That duty includes “refrain[ing] from harming 

and . . . restrain[ing] others within one’s control from harming” the child.  Parks, 305 Ill. App. 3d at 

461, 711 N.E.2d at 1216.  It can also be understood as encompassing an obligation to “care” for 

the child.  See, e.g., Parks, 193 Ill. 2d at 169, 737 N.E.2d at 290 (priest assumed role as teenager’s 

guardian by “accept[ing] the responsibility” for her “care and education”).  Under these definitions, 

a guardian necessarily must protect a child’s “safety and general well-being.”  DeShaney, 489 

U.S. at 200.  But because a guardian’s fiduciary duty arises under Illinois law, there is no support 

for importing Fourteenth Amendment standards to limit it—even in the juvenile detention context.  

Defendants point to no Illinois law providing otherwise. 
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 If the standard for establishing a breach of fiduciary duty is lower than that for establishing 

a Fourteenth Amendment violation, Defendants contend, the court must conclude Plaintiffs cannot 

meet that standard because none of Dixon’s actions “put detainees’ safety and well-being at risk.”  

(County Defs.’ Summ. J. Mot. at 29 (internal quotation marks omitted).)  A reasonable jury could 

disagree.  Dixon did testify during his deposition that he permitted the Empire filming because he 

thought it would benefit the detainees.  (Dixon Dep. 112:1–8.)  But Plaintiffs have presented 

evidence tending to show that by permitting the filming, Dixon interrupted the normal operations 

of the JTDC in ways that harmed the detainees’ well-being.  For example, a jury reasonably could 

infer that the filming caused T.S., Q.B., and H.C. to miss at least one day of recreation outside of 

their pods.  In addition, a jury reasonably could find that because of the filming, T.S. had less 

privacy during a family visit; T.S. had to take one day of summer school classes in his pod rather 

than in a classroom; and T.S. and H.C. missed one session of a free-writing program that they 

regularly attended after school.  Considering (among other things) Dr. Kraus’s opinion that 

spending more time on the pod with fewer activities can worsen the psychological impact of 

detention on juveniles (see, e.g., Kraus Rpt. ¶ 6), a reasonable jury could conclude that Dixon 

breached his fiduciary duty and caused Plaintiffs harm. 

 There is also evidence tending to show that the Empire filming required increasing the 

population in certain pods beyond their functional capacity.  Dunlap opined that following 

functional capacity guidelines was “essential [for] youth in custody to fe[el] safe and [to be] safe.”  

(Dunlap Rpt. ¶ 57.)  Dr. Kraus opined that overcrowding in pods can put detainees’ safety at risk.  

(Kraus Rpt. ¶¶ 30(c), 38.)  Although Plaintiffs have not identified evidence that fights occurred 

more frequently in the pods whose population exceeded functional capacity, a jury reasonably 

could conclude based on the expert opinions that detainees in those pods felt less safe.  In turn, 

a reasonable jury could find that Dixon breached his fiduciary duty to protect the detainees in 

those pods, and that those detainees suffered harm to their well-being.   
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 It bears mention that Plaintiffs’ failure to present evidence that the Empire filming 

jeopardized their medical treatment is not fatal to their claim.  Defendants argue that the claim 

survived only because of medical-related claims that Plaintiffs later withdrew, but they are 

incorrect.  In ruling on Defendants’ first motion to dismiss, the court credited Plaintiffs’ allegations 

that Dixon and Cook County subjected them “to numerous restrictions that were detrimental to 

their health and safety so that the Fox Defendants could film a television show.”  T.S., 2017 WL 

1425596 *10 (emphasis added).  That language cannot reasonably be understood as limiting 

Plaintiffs’ claim to a medical context.  And it is broad enough to encompass restrictions that 

increased detainees’ time on the pod and interfered with their schooling, activities, and family 

visits. 

 For the reasons just explained, a reasonable jury could find that Dixon breached his 

fiduciary duty to Plaintiffs and caused them harm.  The court, therefore, denies the County 

Defendants’ motion for summary judgment on the breach of fiduciary duty claim.  In addition to 

seeking damages for harm resulting from the alleged breach, Plaintiffs seek restitution.  First, they 

appear to seek the value of the director’s chair and autographed photographs that Dixon received 

from Fox and Empire actors.  (See Pls.’ Renewed Mot. for Class Cert. [351] (hereinafter “Renewed 

Mot.”) at 32.)  Plaintiffs maintain that the value of those items is “quantifiable” (id.), though they 

have not identified evidence showing that the value is significant.  On the other hand, the County 

Defendants do not cite legal authority providing that restitution is unavailable for an ill-gotten 

benefit whose value is de minimis.  Because the evidence permits a reasonable inference that 

Dixon received the items in question because of the alleged breach, the court denies the County 

Defendants’ motion for summary judgment on Plaintiffs’ restitution claim as it relates to Dixon.  

See Martin v. Heinold Commodities, Inc., 163 Ill. 2d 33, 56–57, 643 N.E.2d 734, 745 (1994) (to 

obtain restitution from breaching party, a plaintiff must show that the party obtained a benefit from 

the breach).  Second, Plaintiffs seek restitution of the benefits that the Fox Defendants gained 
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because of Dixon’s alleged breach: the revenue Fox received from the Empire filming.  The court 

addresses this request in its discussion of the Fox Defendants’ alleged liability.  See infra 

Part II.D.2.   

2. State-Law Sovereign Immunity 

 The County Defendants have raised state sovereign immunity as an affirmative defense 

to Plaintiffs’ state-law claims.  (County Defs.’ Summ. J. Mot. [414] at 23–24.)  They argue that the 

Illinois Court of Claims has exclusive jurisdiction over all tort claims against the State of Illinois, 

and Plaintiffs’ state-law claims against Dixon and the County are claims against  the State 

because Dixon is a state employee.15  See Illinois Court of Claims Act, 705 ILCS 505/8(d); Healy 

v. Vaupel, 549 N.E.2d 1240, 1246–47, 133 Ill.2d 295, 307–08 (Ill. 1990).  The Seventh Circuit has 

recognized, however, that “Congress, not the states, determines the jurisdictional authority of the 

federal courts.”  Rodriguez v. Cook County, 664 F.3d 627, 632 (7th Cir. 2011).  Thus, “a state 

employee’s sovereign-immunity defense does not impact a federal court’s jurisdiction over a 

case.”  Fields v. Wharrie, 672 F.3d 505, 518 (7th Cir. 2012).  The court concludes that the Illinois 

Court of Claims Act does not deprive it of jurisdiction over the remaining state-law claims in this 

case.  See id. at 518–19. 

 Setting aside the jurisdictional issue, Defendant Dixon is not entitled to sovereign immunity 

under Illinois law, at least at this juncture.  Defendants appear to invoke the Illinois State Lawsuit 

Immunity Act, 745 ILCS 5/1, which provides that the State is generally immune from suit in federal 

court.  That immunity can shield state employees even when those employees are sued in their 

 
15  Plaintiffs do not concede that Dixon is a state employee.  (Pls.’ Opp’n [421] at 48.)  

But the same rationale that justified concluding that “the Chief Judge acts an arm of the State of 
Illinois when he operates and administers the JTDC” could apply to Dixon.  T.S., 2020 WL 
6870809, at *8.  In the November 23, 2020 opinion, this court granted summary judgment on the 
parties’ stipulation that “Dixon was the Chief Judge’s final decision-maker.”  Id.  It follows that 
Dixon was exercising State authority rather than County authority when he made the decision to 
allow Empire filming at the JTDC. 
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individual capacity.  Richman v. Sheahan, 270 F.3d 430, 441 (7th Cir. 2001).  But the Seventh 

Circuit has recognized an exception where the “plaintiff alleges that state officials or employees 

violated ‘statutory or constitutional law.’”  Murphy v. Smith, 844 F.3d 653, 658 (7th Cir. 2016) 

(quoting Healy, 549 N.E.2d at 1247); see also Fritz v. Johnson, 807 N.E.2d 461, 468, 209 Ill. 2d 

302, 313 (2004) (“Whenever a state employee performs illegally, unconstitutionally, or without 

authority, a suit may still be maintained against the employee in his individual capacity and does 

not constitute an action against the State of Illinois.”).  This exception, which appears to eviscerate 

the statutory immunity in many cases, applies to state-law claims as well, “so long as the same 

alleged conduct underlies both the constitutional claims and the state tort claims.”  Gay v. Ortman, 

No. 18 C 50310, 2020 WL 5593283, at *2 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 18, 2020). 

 Because Plaintiffs’ state-law claims against Dixon are based on the same conduct as their 

constitutional claims, the court is not prepared at this time to conclude that Defendant Dixon claim 

has sovereign immunity.  Murphy, 844 F.3d at 660 (denying sovereign immunity where plaintiff 

alleged and proved that state officers “acted in violation of statutory or constitutional law”).  He 

will be free to raise the sovereign immunity defense again at trial.  Murphy, 844 F.3d at 660 n.3 

(“We believe Illinois also requires a plaintiff ultimately to prove the alleged [constitutional] 

violations.”); Nadzhafaliyev v. Hardy, No. 16 C 6844, 2020 WL 7027578, at *10–11 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 

30, 2020) (denying state sovereign immunity at the summary judgment stage because “a jury 

reasonably could find that Defendants . . . violated Plaintiff's right to due process under the 

Fourteenth Amendment”).  In other words, sovereign immunity may apply if Dixon can persuade 

the jury that he had a legitimate government purpose for imposing the challenged conditions, or 

that the conditions were reasonable in relation to that purpose, and thus Plaintiffs have not proved 

their constitutional claim.  This is so even though the court has granted summary judgment for 

Dixon on the constitutional claims on the basis of qualified immunity.  The application of qualified 

immunity shields an officer from liability, but it does not negate the possible presence of an 
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underlying constitutional violation.  See Aaron L. Nielson & Christopher J. Walker, The New 

Qualified Immunity, 89 S. Cal. L. Rev. 1, 34–36 (2015) (examining cases in which courts 

recognized that a constitutional violation had occurred but nonetheless granted qualified immunity 

because the violation was not clearly established at the time). 

B. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress 

 Plaintiffs also assert a claim against Dixon and the County for intentional infliction of 

emotional distress (IIED).  In short, they argue that by allowing Fox to film Empire at the JTDC, 

Dixon exacerbated the adverse psychological impact of incarceration on the detainees.  To prevail 

on their IIED claim, Plaintiffs must prove three elements.  “First, the conduct involved must be 

truly extreme and outrageous.  Second, the actor must either intend that his conduct inflict severe 

emotional distress, or know that there is at least a high probability that his conduct will cause 

severe emotional distress.  Third, the conduct must in fact cause severe emotional distress.”  

Feltmeier v. Feltmeier, 207 Ill. 2d 263, 269, 798 N.E.2d 75, 80 (2003) (internal quotation marks 

omitted); see also, e.g., Cairel v. Alderden, 821 F.3d 823, 835 (7th Cir. 2016) (same).  “[M]ere 

insults, indignities, threats, annoyances, petty oppressions, or other trivialities” do not give rise to 

an IIED claim.  McGrath v. Fahey, 126 Ill. 2d 78, 86, 533 N.E.2d 806, 809 (1988) (quoting 

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 46, cmt. d, at 73 (Am. L. Inst. 1965)).  Instead, “the nature of the 

defendant’s conduct must be so extreme as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency and to 

be regarded as intolerable in a civilized community.”  Feltmeier, 207 Ill. 2d at 270, 798 N.E.2d at 

80–81. 

 The court first considers whether the evidence permits a reasonable conclusion that 

Dixon’s conduct was objectively extreme and outrageous.  Three non-exclusive factors are 

relevant to this inquiry.  See Cairel, 821 F.3d at 835.  The first is “the degree of power or authority 

the defendant holds over the plaintiff.”  Id.  The more control a defendant has over a plaintiff, “the 

more likely that defendant’s conduct will be deemed outrageous . . . .”  Feltmeier, 207 Ill. 2d at 

Case: 1:16-cv-08303 Document #: 434 Filed: 06/10/21 Page 33 of 72 PageID #:9446



 

34 

 

273, 798 N.E.2d at 82 (quoting McGrath, 126 Ill. 2d at 86–87, 533 N.E.2d at 809).  “Second, courts 

consider whether the defendant knew the plaintiff was particularly susceptible to emotional 

distress and acted inappropriately despite that knowledge.”  Cairel, 821 F.3d at 836; see also 

Graham v. Commonwealth Edison Co., 318 Ill. App. 3d 736, 746, 742 N.E.2d 858, 867 (1st. Dist. 

2000).  “Behavior that would not normally be considered outrageous may be actionable if the 

defendant knows that the plaintiff is particularly susceptible.”  Graham, 318 Ill. App. 3d at 746, 

742 N.E.2d at 867 (citing McGrath, 126 Ill. 2d at 89–90, 533 N.E.2d at 811).  “Third, courts 

consider whether the defendant reasonably believed that his objective was legitimate.”  Cairel, 

821 F.3d at 836 (internal quotation marks omitted) (citing McGrath, 126 Ill. 2d at 88, 533 N.E.2d 

at 810). 

 In contending that Dixon’s conduct was extreme and outrageous, Plaintiffs suggest that 

Dixon permitted the Empire filming not for a legitimate purpose, but rather because he wanted to 

meet celebrities.  Plaintiffs also emphasize that the detainees were children and Dixon was 

responsible for their care.  In addition, Plaintiffs argue that Dixon knew the detainees were 

particularly susceptible to emotional distress.  To that end, they cite Dixon’s testimony during his 

deposition for this case that “juvenile detention is the emergency room of the juvenile justice 

system.”  (Dixon Dep. at 49:13–15.)  Finally, Plaintiffs maintain that Dixon exercised “complete 

control” over the detainees.  (Pls.’ Opp’n at 44.)  Whether Dixon’s decision to permit the Empire 

filming went “beyond all possible bounds of decency” is debatable.  Feltmeier, 207 Ill. 2d at 270, 

798 N.E.2d at 80–81.  But considering the power Dixon wielded over the children and their 

vulnerability as detainees, a jury drawing all reasonable inferences in Plaintiffs’ favor could 

conclude that it did.  

 Plaintiffs stumble on the other elements of their claim, however.  Regarding intent, 

Plaintiffs parrot the case law.  They argue that Dixon knew there was a high probability that his 

conduct could cause the detainees severe emotional distress, but they do not explain why.  
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Dixon’s deposition testimony that “juvenile detention is the emergency room of the juvenile justice 

system” does not fill this gap.  (Dixon Dep. at 49:13–15.)  The testimony can fairly be understood 

as showing Dixon’s knowledge that the detainees were susceptible to emotional distress.  But it 

says nothing about how JTDC operations or changes thereto can affect the detainees, 

psychologically or otherwise.  Considering the cited testimony alone, no reasonable jury could 

find that Dixon acted with the requisite knowledge that permitting the disruptions generated by 

the Empire filming would cause Plaintiffs severe emotional distress. 

 Nor is it clear that Plaintiffs’ suffering in fact rose to this level.  “The law intervenes only 

where the distress inflicted is so severe that no reasonable man could be expected to endure it.”  

McGrath, 126 Ill. 2d at 86, 533 N.E.2d at 809 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 46, cmt. j, 

at 77–78 (Am. L. Inst. 1965)).  Where plaintiffs have alleged that defendants’ actions “caused 

them simply to become annoyed, frustrated, stressful, distressed, embarrassed, humiliated or 

nervous,” courts generally have determined that they did not state a claim for IIED under Illinois 

law.  Honaker v. Smith, 256 F.3d 477, 495 (7th Cir. 2001); see also, e.g., Welsh v. Commonwealth 

Edison Co., 306 Ill. App. 3d 148, 155, 713 N.E.2d 679, 684 (1st Dist. 1999).  True, a plaintiff can 

establish that he suffered severe emotional distress without proof of a physical injury or the need 

for medical or psychiatric treatment.  See Honaker, 256 F.3d at 496; Bristow v. Drake St. Inc., 41 

F.3d 345, 350 (7th Cir. 1994).  But courts are “more inclined” to find that a plaintiff has established 

such a claim “when the distress has manifested itself either through physical symptoms or has 

necessitated medical treatment.”   Honaker, 256 F.3d at 495. 

 According to Dixon and the County, Plaintiffs have not submitted evidence suggesting that 

T.S., Q.B., or H.C. suffered any emotional distress, let alone severe emotional distress.  

Defendants also emphasize that Dr. Kraus—who opined that increasing juveniles’ time on the 

pod and limiting their activities can exacerbate the psychological effects of incarceration—did not 

examine T.S., Q.B., or H.C.  Plaintiffs do not dispute these points.  Furthermore, in their IIED 
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briefing, Plaintiffs do not mention the statement from Taylor—a youth development specialist at 

the JTDC—that detainees in the pods where she worked seemed more anxious and felt “cooped 

up” during the Empire filming.  (Taylor Decl. ¶ 22.)  Plaintiffs certainly do not attempt to argue that 

the changes Taylor claims to have observed in the detainees went beyond mere annoyance, 

frustration, or stress, which do not supply a basis for an IIED claim under Illinois law. See, e.g., 

Honaker, 256 F.3d at 495.  Instead, Plaintiffs maintain that, based solely on the purported 

outrageousness of Dixon’s conduct, a jury reasonably could find that T.S., Q.B., H.C., or other 

putative class members suffered severe emotional distress. 

 It is true that “the extreme and outrageous character of the defendant’s conduct” may itself 

be “important evidence that the distress has existed.”  Honaker, 256 F.3d at 496 (quoting Wall v. 

Pecaro, 204 Ill. App. 3d 362, 368, 561 N.E.2d 1084, 1088 (1st Dist. 1990)).  Relatedly, Illinois 

courts “tend to merge the issue of the outrageousness of the defendant’s conduct with the issue 

of the severity of the plaintiff’s emotional distress . . . .”  Bristow, 41 F.3d at 350.  But Plaintiffs 

have not cited any authority providing that outrageous conduct, without more, constitutes proof 

that a victim suffered severe emotional distress.  Indeed, the court in Honaker stated that 

outrageous conduct may be “important” to the inquiry, not that it is sufficient.  256 F.3d at 496.  

And in Bristow, the court explained that “the weaker the evidence of distress,” the more evidence 

of outrageousness is required to tip the balance in the plaintiff’s favor.  41 F.3d at 350 (emphasis 

added).  Bristow does not establish that a plaintiff can satisfy his burden of proof without any 

evidence that he suffered severe emotional distress.  

 In short, the purported outrageousness of Dixon’s conduct does not substitute for evidence 

that Plaintiffs suffered severe emotional distress.  And although the court has concluded that a 

reasonable jury could find that Dixon’s breach of fiduciary duty harmed Plaintiffs—including by 

increasing the psychological effects that incarceration had on them—Plaintiffs make no effort to 
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explain how that harm was sufficiently severe to support an IIED claim.  The court grants summary 

judgment on the IIED claim in favor of Dixon and the County. 

C. Indemnification 

Because at least one state-law claim against Dixon survives this ruling, the court turns to 

Plaintiffs’ argument that Cook County is obligated by Illinois law to pay any judgment entered 

against Dixon.  In Illinois, counties are obligated to “pay any tort judgment” against an employee 

found liable for actions taken “within the scope of his employment.”  745 ILCS 10/9-102.  Cook 

County argues, however, that this obligation is not triggered here because, as an employee of the 

Chief Judge’s office, Dixon is a state employee rather than a county employee.  But that status 

does not control the analysis; that is, “the fact that [the defendant] is not an employee of the 

County is not dispositive.”  Cannon v. Burge, No. 05 C 2192, 2006 WL 273544, at *21 (N.D. Ill. 

Feb. 2, 2006).  Instead, “under the Seventh Circuit’s decision in Robinson v. Sappington, 351 

F.3d 317 (7th Cir. 2003), the County has a duty to indemnify claims brought against State officials 

where the County funds the office of that state official.”  Cannon, 2006 WL 273544, at *21.  Cook 

County funds the JTDC, see 55 ILCS 75/1(a), and thus remains liable for indemnification for any 

tortious actions that Dixon takes within the scope of his employment.16   

In challenging this determination, Cook County contends that Robinson’s holding applies 

only to state employees where the county not only funds, but also “maintain[s]” the office in 

question.  Robinson, 351 F.3d at 339 (“The responsibility for maintaining and funding the Macon 

County Circuit Court lies with Macon County.”).  And the County notes that, in its November 2020 

decision to grant partial summary judgment, this court already found that there is no evidence that 

Cook County has the authority “to dictate how the Chief Judge operates and administers the 

 
16 Cook County argues that although it pays JTDC salaries such as Dixon’s, those 

salaries are reimbursed by the state.  See 730 ILCS 110/15(4).  But Cook County points to no 
caselaw suggesting that such a reimbursement structure affects whether a county funds the office 
of a particular state official for the purposes of indemnification. 
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[JTDC].”  T.S., 2020 WL 6870809, at *5.  That statement appears, however, in a separate 

discussion of whether the Chief Judge was, himself, an agent of the county.  Id.  Elsewhere in the 

opinion, the court listed a number of ways in which the county might be said to “maintain” the 

JTDC, including the county’s ability to rebuild or relocate the JTDC if the county determines it is 

obsolete; the ability to fix the monthly salary of the superintendent and other necessary personnel; 

and the ability, at any time, to require the superintendent to provide information concerning the 

conduct, maintenance, or residents of the JTDC.  Id.   

 Further, although the Seventh Circuit in Robinson noted that the county defendant there 

both maintained and funded the county court in question, the Seventh Circuit did not go so far as 

to say that such maintenance was a requirement for finding the county responsible for 

indemnifying the defendant state judge.  Notably, the Seventh Circuit grounded the Robinson 

holding in the Illinois Supreme Court’s decision in Carver v. Sheriff of La Salle Cnty., 203 Ill. 2d 

497, 787 N.E.2d 127 (2003).  The Carver Court made no mention of the county’s role in 

“maintaining” the sheriff’s office at issue there; instead the Court said only, “Because the office of 

the sheriff is funded by the county, the county is therefore required to pay a judgment entered 

against [defendant sheriff’s office employee] . . . . ”17  Id. at 522, 787 N.E.2d at 141.  For that 

reason, the court denies Cook County’s motion for summary judgment on Plaintiffs’ 

indemnification claim.  See Haag v. Cook County, No. 1:17-CV-05403, 2021 WL 1192440, at *5 

(N.D. Ill. Mar. 29, 2021) (finding, in dicta, that Robinson’s and Carver’s holding suggest that 

“[b]ecause Cook County funds the Office of the Chief Judge for Cook County, it would have been 

responsible for indemnification” of an employee of that office). 

 
17 Unlike the defendants in Robinson and Carver, Dixon faces suit here in his 

individual, rather than official, capacity.  Cook County did not argue that this distinction materially 
distinguishes these cases from Dixon’s. 

Case: 1:16-cv-08303 Document #: 434 Filed: 06/10/21 Page 38 of 72 PageID #:9451



 

39 

 

D. Inducement and Unjust Enrichment 

Plaintiffs next argue that Fox is liable for inducing Dixon to breach his fiduciary duty.  

“Under Illinois law, a party is liable for tortious inducement if a plaintiff demonstrates that the 

defendant (1) colluded with a fiduciary in committing a breach; (2) knowingly participated in or 

induced the breach of duty; and (3) knowingly accepted the benefits resulting from that breach.”  

Borsellino v. Goldman Sachs Grp., 477 F.3d 502, 508–09 (7th Cir. 2007) (citing Regnery v. 

Meyers, 287 Ill. App. 3d 354, 364, 679 N.E.2d 74, 80 (1st Dist. 1997)).  In short, Plaintiffs must 

show both that the Fox Defendants engaged in “active misbehavior” that facilitated the breach 

and that the Fox Defendants knew that this behavior would cause Dixon to breach his fiduciary 

duty to the JTDC’s detainees.  Id.; see also In re Pritzker, No. 02 CH 21426, 03 CH 7531, 2004 

WL 414313, at *7 (Cir. Ct. of Ill. Mar. 5, 2014) (finding that active participation requires “that the 

parties knew or had reason to believe at the time of their alleged participation that the acts were 

wrongful”).  Here, the Fox Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ evidence could not support a jury 

finding on either front. 

1. Tortious Inducement to Breach a Fiduciary Duty 

First, Fox contends that they did not engage in the requisite level of “active misbehavior.”  

A reasonable jury could disagree.  Illinois courts define active misbehavior as “an act or omission 

which furthers or completes the breach of trust by the trustee.”  Chabraja v. Martwick, 248 Ill. App. 

3d 995, 998, 618 N.E.2d 800, 803 (1st Dist. 1993) (citing G. Bogert, TRUSTS & TRUSTEES § 901, 

258–259 (2d ed. 1982)).  Courts apply this standard liberally.  For example, in Vill. of Wheeling v. 

Stavros, the court reversed dismissal of a complaint alleging tortious inducement where the 

defendant “was in a position to and did control certain officials of the Village” who “violated their 

fiduciary duties to the village” even though “the means by which [the defendant] influenced Village 

officials to breach their duties [we]re not set forth” in the complaint.  89 Ill. App. 3d 450, 452–53, 

455, 411 N.E.2d 1067, 1068–69, 1071 (1st Dist. 1980).  Likewise, in Regnery, the First District 
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Appellate Court affirmed a judgment for a group of minority shareholders following a bench trial 

where the evidence showed that defendant, the brother of a majority shareholder, not only 

initiated the majority shareholder’s “sale of stock to his brother and himself at a price far below 

market value,” but also “fully participated in all steps of the transaction.”  287 Ill. App. 3d at 363–

64, 679 N.E.2d at 80.  

In support of its argument that no jury could find that Fox engaged in active misbehavior, 

Fox cites Chabraja, where plaintiffs alleged that the Cook County School Superintendent had 

violated a fiduciary duty to the county by improperly holding public funds in a non-interest-bearing 

account.  248 Ill. App. 3d at 996, 618 N.E.2d at 801.  Plaintiffs in Chabraja also alleged that the 

bank was liable for allowing the Superintendent to deposit the public funds.  Affirming dismissal 

of that claim, the First District Appellate Court explained that “the mere act of accepting a deposit” 

did not amount to an “act or omission which furthers or completes the breach.”  Id. at 999, 618 

N.E.2d at 803 (internal citations omitted).  Fox also cites Borsellino, where plaintiff—a partner in 

a stock-trading company—claimed that defendant Goldman Sachs had tortiously induced 

plaintiff’s two partners to breach their fiduciary duty to him by defrauding him of his rightful interest 

in the company.  477 F.3d at 504, 508.  The Seventh Circuit affirmed dismissal of that claim on 

motion, explaining that “the plaintiffs have not alleged any active misbehavior on the part of 

Goldman Sachs,” because the allegations that Goldman Sachs conspired against plaintiff with 

plaintiff’s business partners “ma[de] neither economic nor common sense.”  Id. at 508–09.  Thus, 

“even accepting all of the plaintiffs’ allegations at face value, there was no interference by the 

defendant that could have induced a breach.”  Id. at 508. 

In the case before this court, there is evidence from which a reasonable jury could find 

that Fox “further[ed] or complete[d]” Dixon’s breach of fiduciary duty.  Chabraja, 248 Ill. App. 3d 

at 998, 618 N.E.2d at 803 (internal citations omitted).  Klemke reached out to Dixon to propose 

filming Empire at the JTDC (Klemke Dep. at 19:6–21); Klemke and Breen requested use of the 
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classrooms, the outdoor yards, the visitation room, the chapel, and Pods 3A and 3B (Klemke 

Follow-up Email; Defs.’ Ex. 20 at 2–5); and Fox repeatedly used those spaces, bringing some 

150 crew members to the JTDC on at least four different days.  (July 31 Robinson Email at 3.)  

These actions substantially exceed the conduct at issue in Chabraja, where the bank merely 

accepted a deposit.  248 Ill. App. 3d at 999, 618 N.E.2d at 803.  Thus, if a jury finds that Dixon 

breached his fiduciary duty to the JTDC’s detainees, then that jury could also reasonably find that 

Fox’s actions furthered or completed that breach. 

 Fox’s more powerful argument relates to knowledge: Fox argues that no reasonable jury 

could find that Fox knew that Dixon was breaching his fiduciary duty by allowing Fox to film at the 

JTDC.  The parties debate whether the tortious inducement standard requires a plaintiff to show 

actual knowledge or whether constructive knowledge will suffice.  This question does not appear 

to have a simple answer.  Compare People ex rel. Daley v. Warren Motors, Inc., 114 Ill. 2d 305, 

319, 500 N.E.2d 22, 28 (1986) (quoting Restatement (First) of Restitution § 174 cmt. a (Am. L. 

Inst. 1937)) (“A person has notice of facts giving rise to a constructive trust not only when he 

knows them, but also when he should know them.”),18 with In re Canopy Fin., Inc., No. 12-cv-

4646, 2015 WL 3505010, at *7 (N.D. Ill. June 2, 2015) (“[A]nalysis of claims of aiding and 

abetting . . . breach of fiduciary duty has consistently distinguished actual knowledge and 

participation from the ‘should have known’ state of mind, and has just as consistently held that 

the latter mindset is not actionable.”). 

 The court need not decide whether constructive knowledge suffices, however, for the 

record lacks sufficient evidence to support a finding that Fox had even constructive knowledge.  

Fox, of course, knew that the detainees could not use the classrooms, chapel, outdoor yards, or 

 
18 The court in Warren Motors was referring to fiduciary breach in the context of the 

“constructive trust” doctrine in which courts of equity will “impose a constructive trust to prevent a 
person from holding for his own benefit an advantage gained by the abuse of a fiduciary 
relationship.”  114 Ill. 2d 305, 314, 500 N.E.2d 22, 26 (1986) (internal citations omitted). 
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intake pods while Fox was filming.  But Klemke was under the impression that the JTDC could 

provide indoor alternatives for exercise (Klemke Dep. at 109:1–12), and there is no evidence that 

anyone at Fox knew that school would be in session at all that summer.  School was in fact not 

in session during the June filming period (Resp. to SOF ¶ 42), and there is no evidence to suggest 

anybody at Fox knew or should have known that the July schedule would be any different.  

Plaintiffs have also identified no evidence that the Fox Defendants knew their use of Pods 3A and 

3B would force JTDC to overpopulate other pods.  And regarding visitation, Plaintiffs do not 

dispute that there is no evidence suggesting that Fox had any reason to know that JTDC had 

moved visitation to a smaller or less accommodating space.  (Resp. to SOF ¶ 67.) 

The only reasonable interpretation of the evidence is that JTDC officials created the 

impression that they would inform Fox if any of Fox’s requests jeopardized the detainees’ needs.  

In fact, Fox and the JTDC agreed to as much in Paragraph 1(D) of the Location Agreement.19  

(Location Agreement.)  And JTDC’s actions sent the same signals.  JTDC General Counsel 

Alonzo testified that she worked with Dixon before the filming to tell Fox “what areas [JTDC] could 

put off for filming and . . . still meet the requirements for the kids.”  (Alonzo Dep. at 12:13–13:23, 

27:17–29:21.)  For example, while Fox originally wanted to film in the infirmary (Location 

Agreement ¶ 1(A)), Alonzo rejected Fox’s request, explaining that filming in the infirmary would 

not comply with federal standards surrounding detainee care.  (Defs.’ Ex. 45 at 2–4.)  Such 

communication continued during filming, as well.  Breen testified that, during filming, Fox had 

“consistent conversations” about where they could and could not be at certain times, leading to 

 
19 Plaintiffs cite to a footnote in Brentwood Acad. v. Tenn. Secondary Sch. Athletic 

Ass’n, 531 U.S. 288, 302 n.4 (2001), for the proposition that such “formalism” present in this 
clause of the Location Agreement is not the “sine qua non” of liability in cases such as this one.  
Plaintiffs also cite Wickersham v. City of Columbia, 481 F.3d 591, 599 (8th Cir. 2007), for 
essentially the same proposition.  Each of these cases, however, deals not with questions of 
liability, but rather with questions of whether formalistic lines drawn in rules or legislation can be 
dispositive of whether behavior by a defendant constitutes state action.  In this case, the text of 
the Location Agreement is far from the only evidence suggesting that JTDC assured Fox that it 
would notify Fox if any of the filming requests had gone too far. 
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“numerous situations” where staff told Breen that they could not “do this right now because of the 

sensitivities of the location . . . . ”  (Breen Dep. at 80:1–8, 146:22–147:6.)  Given JTDC’s behavior, 

the only reasonable conclusion about Fox‘s knowledge is that Fox assumed that JTDC would 

inform the filming crew if their actions were negatively impacting the detainees. 

Plaintiffs’ counterarguments are not persuasive.  First, Plaintiffs point to Klemke’s post-

tour email to Dixon as evidence that Klemke knew Fox’s visit would lead Dixon to breach his 

fiduciary duty.  In that email, Klemke stated that he hoped the filming schedule would make Fox’s 

presence “less of an impact,” and that he hoped that Fox and the JTDC could “discuss a way of 

making sure that we don’t interfere with your day to day operations too badly.”  (Klemke Follow-

Up Email (emphasis added).)  Plaintiffs seize on this language, arguing that Klemke knew Fox’s 

presence would impact the JTDC and interfere with the jail’s day to day operations to some extent.  

At most, however, Klemke’s language indicates only what is obvious: that Fox’s presence would 

have some effect on the day-to-day operations of the JTDC.  No reasonable jury could conclude 

from Klemke’s comment that Fox knew that the impact on operations would amount to a breach 

of fiduciary duty.  In fact, when asked about this language, Klemke testified that his intention was 

to “give Superintendent Dixon an opportunity to tell me that he wasn’t comfortable with the things 

that I had suggested.”  (Klemke Dep. at 36:19–37:8.)  And Plaintiffs ignore the first part of the “too 

badly” quote in which Klemke stated, “Obviously your schedule would take precedence over 

ours . . .”  (Id.)  It is true that, in the same email, Klemke suggested Fox would try to only bring 30 

people into the facility—a number that Fox ultimately far exceeded, bringing at least 100 people 

every day of filming.  (Klemke Follow-up Email; July 31 Robinson Email at 3.)  But Plaintiffs can 

point to no evidence suggesting that the increased number of visitors caused the JTDC to place 

any extra restrictions on the detainees.  Indeed, much of the requested space was used for filming 

or equipment storage and thus would have been unavailable to detainees even if Fox had brought 

only 30 people.  (Klemke Follow-up Email; Defs.’ Ex. 20 at 2–4.) 
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Plaintiffs also emphasize evidence that Fox typically paid third parties for the 

inconvenience of having television shows filmed nearby.  Whatever the significance of this 

evidence might be in another context, it is not sufficient to support a finding that Fox had 

constructive knowledge of harm that the Empire filming allegedly was inflicting on JTDC 

detainees.  (Pls.’ Opp’n at 59.)  For one, Breen testified that these payments are not for mere 

inconvenience but rather for encroachments such as placing a light on someone’s front lawn, 

boarding a barking dog in a kennel, or changing the neighbors’ drapes if they are going to appear 

in a shot.  (Pls.’ Corrected Ex. 15 [426-3] at 55:21–56:19.)  And if Plaintiffs are correct that Fox 

had a practice of paying third parties for mere inconvenience, that also does not change the 

outcome.  Fox’s potential knowledge of possible inconvenience for the JTDC is not sufficient to 

support an inference that Fox knew or should have known that its presence would harm the 

detainees.   

Plaintiffs also suggest that Fox must have been aware of the potential for harm, because  

“Fox had filmed at night in both Cook County’s downtown administration building and its 

courthouse at 26th and California so that it would not disturb the governmental work being done 

in those locations.”  (Pls.’ Opp’n at 59.)  Assuming this is true, it does not obviously support 

Plaintiffs’ claims; it is at least as consistent with a conclusion that Fox would have catered to the 

JTDC’s request to film at night, had the JTDC suggested that was necessary in order to protect 

the detainees.  The court concludes that no reasonable jury could find that Fox had even 

constructive knowledge that Dixon was breaching his fiduciary duty to the detainees at the JTDC.  

For that reason, Plaintiffs’ tortious inducement claim against Fox fails. 

2. Unjust Enrichment 

 Plaintiffs argue in the alternative that even if the Fox Defendants are not liable for tortious 

inducement, they are liable under an unjust enrichment theory because they benefitted from 

Dixon’s breach of fiduciary duty.  In support of this argument, Plaintiffs cite Stavros, where the 
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First District Appellate court of Illinois explained that “[a] third party who . . . knowingly accepts 

any benefit from . . . a breach [of a trustee’s duty of loyalty] becomes directly liable to the 

aggrieved party.”  89 Ill. App. 3d at 455, 411 N.E.2d at 1070; accord Restatement (Third) of 

Restitution and Unjust Enrichment § 43 cmt. g (Am. L. Inst. 2011) (“Benefits derived from a 

fiduciary's breach of duty may therefore be recovered from third parties, not themselves under 

any special duty to the claimant, who acquire such benefits with notice of the breach.”)  But as 

Plaintiffs admit, this theory of unjust enrichment still requires a showing that the third party in 

question had notice or knowledge of the breach when accepting the benefit in question.  For the 

reasons already stated, the court concludes that no reasonable jury could find that the Fox 

Defendants had knowledge of the breach of duty in this case. 

 In a similar vein, Plaintiffs cite Pro-Pac, Inc. v. WOW Logistics Co. for the proposition that 

“[a] person who obtains a benefit . . . in consequence of another’s breach of [a fiduciary duty] is 

liable in restitution to the person to whom the duty is owed.”  721 F.3d 781, 787 (7th Cir. 2013) 

(quoting Restatement (Third) of Restitution & Unjust Enrichment § 43(c)).  But in Pro-Pac—a case 

decided under Wisconsin law—the Seventh Circuit discussed the possibility of the plaintiff 

recovering under an unjust enrichment theory only after affirming a bankruptcy court’s 

determination that the defendant had aided and abetted a third party’s breach of fiduciary duty 

owed to the plaintiff.  See 721 F.3d at 782–84, 787 (explaining that the third party breached its 

fiduciary duty by diverting a deal from the plaintiff to the defendant, and that the plaintiff might be 

entitled to restitution from the defendant of the value the defendant obtained from the deal).  The 

Seventh Circuit provided no discussion of how Section 43(c) of the Third Restatement applies 

where, as here, there is no reasonable basis for finding that the party from whom restitution is 

being sought (Fox) tortiously induced (or was otherwise liable for) another party’s alleged breach 

of fiduciary duty.  The courts in Plaintiffs’ other cited cases did not address that issue, either.  See 

Martin, 163 Ill. 2d at 56, 643 N.E.2d at 745 (considering only whether the breaching party had a 
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duty to return the benefit he obtained); Happy R Sec., LLC v. Agri-Sources, LLC, 2013 IL App 

(3d) 120509, ¶ 44, 988 N.E.2d 972, 982 (stating in dicta that Section 43 “discuss[es] restitution in 

the context of a breach of fiduciary duty”).  For these reasons, Plaintiffs’ unjust enrichment claim 

fails. 

III. Class Certification 

 The court previously denied Plaintiffs’ motion for class certification without prejudice.  T.S. 

v. Twentieth Century Fox Television, 334 F.R.D. 518, 541 (N.D. Ill. 2020) (“the January 16, 2020 

opinion”).  Plaintiffs have filed a renewed motion for class certification [351] along with a motion 

to amend their complaint by adding H.C. as a class representative [365].  As explained below, the 

court grants Plaintiffs’ motion to amend their complaint, and grants in part and denies in part the 

motion to certify the class. 

A. Motion to Amend Complaint or, Alternatively, Add Class Representative 

 The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provide that leave to amend a pleading should be 

freely given “when justice so requires.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 15(a)(2).  When assessing such a request, 

courts typically consider whether granting or denying leave to amend will prejudice the parties.  

See 6 Wright & Miller, Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 1487 (3d ed. 2021) (“This entails an inquiry into 

[1] the hardship to the moving party if leave to amend is denied, [2] the reasons for the moving 

party failing to include the material to be added in the original pleading, and [3] the injustice 

resulting to the party opposing the motion should it be granted.”); accord Kasak v. Vill. of Bedford 

Park, 552 F. Supp. 2d. 787, 793–94 (N.D. Ill. 2008) (granting leave to amend where new claim 

would not affect defendants’ pending summary judgment motion, and prejudice plaintiff would 

face outweighed prejudice to defendants). 

 Plaintiffs have requested leave to amend their Second Amended Complaint [88] solely for 

the purpose of adding H.C. as a class representative.  (See Pls.’ Mot. to Amend Compl. or to 

Permit Consideration of H.C. as Potential Class Representative [365] (hereinafter “Mot. to 
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Amend”) at 1 & n.1.)  They offer H.C. in response to concerns that the court raised in its January 

16, 2020 opinion denying class certification.  Plaintiffs now propose three classes.  The first, 

labeled “Class 1—Increased Confinement Class,” would include “[a]ll youth detained at the JTDC 

for at least 24 consecutive hours during the Empire filming periods” who were “confined to their 

pods more than they otherwise would [have] been because of the filming . . . .”  (Pls.’ Renewed 

Mot. for Class Cert. [351] (hereinafter “Renewed Class Mot.”) at 6.)  In the alternative, Plaintiffs 

have identified six subclasses within Class 1, depending on the type of off-pod activity that 

detainees allegedly were denied due to filming.  (Id. at 6–7.)  Subclass 1(f) would consist of 

detainees who were subject to “severe confinement,” meaning that they did not leave their pods 

for at least 24 hours consecutively.  (Mot. to Amend at 3; Renewed Class Mot. at 7.)  Because 

neither T.S. nor Q.B. were confined to their pods for at least 24 consecutive hours during filming, 

Plaintiffs have proposed the addition of H.C. to satisfy Rule 23(a)(3)’s typicality requirement for 

Subclass 1(f).  Again, Plaintiffs believe that this subclass is unnecessary, but they have proposed 

it in the event the court determines that Class 1’s injuries are not constitutionally cognizable.  (Mot. 

to Amend at 3; Renewed Class Mot. at 27.) 

 In support of their motion, Plaintiffs have provided a redline comparison of the Second 

Amended Complaint and the proposed Third Amended Complaint.  (See Redline, Ex. 2 to Mot. to 

Amend [365-2].)  Aside from the addition of allegations concerning H.C. (see Redline at 2–3, 23), 

the only other changes are corrections to allegations that Plaintiffs now acknowledge were 

inaccurate in light of discovery.  (See id. at 13, 16, 18–20.)20  According to the Third Amended 

Complaint, H.C. and the other residents of Pod 3J normally left the pod every day for activities, 

such as recreation, school, and programming, but on multiple days during filming, H.C. and the 

 
20  Specifically, Plaintiffs have deleted their allegations that: the JTDC infirmary was 

used as a film set (Redline at 13); visitation was “severely shortened” (id. at 16); T.S.’s mother 
saw “a large group of what appeared to be Empire’s cast or crew leave the building” while waiting 
to visit her son (id. at 19); and detainees on Q.B.’s pod “never” received recreation during Empire’s 
filming (id. at 20). 
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other residents were confined to their pod for the entire day.  (Third Am. Compl. ¶ 53, Ex. 2 to 

Renewed Class Mot [365-2].)   

 Defendants oppose amendment of the complaint and H.C.’s addition as a class 

representative.  They argue that a declaration submitted by Plaintiffs’ counsel in support of 

Subclass 1(f) contained factual inaccuracies.  (See Defs.’ Opp’n to Mot. to Amend [374] at 1–3.)  

Specifically, Plaintiffs’ counsel created a chart that purported to summarize the number of juvenile 

detainees who did not leave their pods for at least 24 consecutive hours.  (See Ex. A to Weil Decl. 

6/15/20 [351-2].)  The chart relied solely on the JTDC’s “DC5 Movement Logs,” which are 

Microsoft Excel spreadsheets that track the movement of all detainees.  (Weil Decl. 6/15/20 ¶ 3.)  

Plaintiffs concede that this declaration contained unintentional errors, but they insist that H.C. is 

nonetheless a suitable class representative.  (Pls.’ Reply in Support of Mot. to Amend [380] at 1; 

Pls.’ Status Report 8/2/20 [388] (acknowledging that “[t]he missing data renders the DC5 logs 

insufficient, standing alone, to supply reliable “no movement” figures set out in the ECF 375-1 

table”).)  Plaintiffs have submitted a supplemental chart that attempts to address the errors in the 

original declaration.  (See Weil Decl. 8/7/20, Ex. A to Pls.’ Suppl. Filing Pursuant to Rule 23(a)(1) 

[390-1].)  In any event, Defendants have been able to conduct some discovery already, including 

a deposition of H.C. on August 4, 2020.  (See generally H.C. Dep., Ex. O to Defs.’ Class Opp’n 

[398-3]; see also H.C. Responses to Defense Rule 33 Discovery of July 14, 2020, Ex. 3 to Pls.’ 

Reply in Support of Mot. to Amend [380-1].)   

 The court agrees with Plaintiffs that they would suffer hardship if they are unable to add 

H.C. because Subclass 1(f) would be left without a class representative.  Plaintiffs’ failure to add 

H.C. as a named plaintiff until now is an understandable response to the court’s January 16, 2020 

opinion.  By contrast, any prejudice to Defendants would be minimal; indeed, discovery pertaining 

to H.C. is already underway and should not take long to complete.  Accordingly, the court grants 

Plaintiffs’ motion to amend their complaint. 
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B. Renewed Motion to Certify Class 

 With H.C. added as a named plaintiff, the court turns to the renewed motion for class 

certification.  In response to this court’s January 16, 2020 opinion denying their first motion for 

class certification, Plaintiffs have made significant changes to their class definition.  Rather than 

attempting to certify a class of all juveniles detained at the JTDC during the filming of Empire, 

Plaintiffs now propose three classes that they believe will satisfy Rule 23(a)(3)’s typicality 

requirement: (1) detainees subject to additional confinement, (2) detainees who experienced 

“degraded visitation,” and (3) detainees subject to overcrowding.  (Renewed Class Mot. at 2, 6–

7.)  All three classes are limited to detainees who were at the JTDC for at least 24 hours 

consecutively.  (Id.) 

 Specifically, Plaintiffs have offered the following class definitions: 

Class 1—Increased confinement class: All youth detained at the JTDC for at 
least 24 consecutive hours during the Empire filming periods.  Each member of 
this proposed class was confined to their pods more than they otherwise would 
[have] been because of the filming of Empire in the JTDC facility. 
 
In the alternative, Plaintiffs have divided Class 1 into subclasses. . . . [:] 

 
Subclass 1(a)—LME subclass—All youth detained at the JTDC for at least 24 
consecutive hours during the Empire filming periods who did not receive at least 
one hour of Large Muscle Exercise (“LME”) recreation off-pod during any day of 
the filming periods. 
 
Subclass 1(b)—Outdoor recreation subclass—All youth detained at the JTDC 
for at least 24 consecutive hours during the Empire filming who did not receive 
scheduled outdoor recreation during the filming periods or whose outdoor 
recreation was not scheduled because of the filming of Empire in the JTDC facility. 
 
Subclass 1(c)—School break recreation subclass—All youth detained at the 
JTDC for at least 24 consecutive hours during the Empire filming periods who did 
not receive off-pod recreation or programming in addition to one hour of LME 
during each day of the June and August filming periods because of the filming of 
Empire in the JTDC facility. 
 
Subclass 1(d)—School subclass—All youth detained at the JTDC for at least 24 
consecutive hours during the Empire filming periods who were detained on 
residential pods during the July filming period who did not travel to the Nancy B. 
Jefferson school each day for class. 
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Subclass 1(e)—Program subclass—All youth detained at the JTDC for at least 
24 consecutive hours during the Empire filming periods who were scheduled to 
participate in off-pod programs like Free Write, Karma Garden, or off-pod activities 
like commissary or game room but who did not do so because of the Empire 
filming. 
 
Subclass 1(f)—Severe confinement subclass—All youth detained at the JTDC 
for at least 24 consecutive hours during the Empire filming periods who did not 
leave their pods for at least 24 consecutive hours because of schedule disruptions 
caused by the filming of Empire.  For this subclass, Plaintiffs propose a new class 
representative, H.C. . . . 

 
Class 2. All youth detained at the JTDC for at least 24 consecutive hours who had family 
visitation during the June and July filming periods. 
 
Class 3. All youth detained at the JTDC for at least 24 consecutive hours during the 
Empire filming periods who were . . . on pods with populations that exceeded safe 
functional operating capacity. 
 

(Id. at 6–7.) 

 Plaintiffs bear the burden of showing that a proposed class complies with Rule 23, “but 

they need not make that showing to a degree of absolute certainty.”  Messner v. Northshore Univ. 

HealthSystem, 669 F.3d 802, 811 (7th Cir. 2012).  “It is sufficient if each disputed requirement 

has been proven by a preponderance of evidence.”  Id.  A court may look beyond the pleadings 

to determine whether class certification is appropriate, because “[o]n issues affecting class 

certification, [ ] a court may not simply assume the truth of the matters as asserted by the plaintiff.”  

Id.  If there are factual disputes, “the court must receive evidence and resolve the disputes before 

deciding whether to certify the class.”  Id. (internal quotation omitted).  This inquiry may involve 

“some overlap with the merits of the plaintiff's underlying claim,” Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 

564 U.S. 338, 351 (2011), but class certification is not a “dress rehearsal for a trial on the merits,” 

Messner, 669 F.3d at 811. 

 Because the court has granted summary judgment with respect to Plaintiffs’ constitutional 

claims on the basis of qualified immunity, as well as the inducement and unjust enrichment claims 

against the Fox Defendants, the court’s class certification analysis is limited to the remaining 

state-law claims against Defendants Dixon and Cook County.  In other words, the court will 
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consider whether certification of the proposed classes and subclasses is appropriate for the 

breach of fiduciary duty and indemnification claims against the County Defendants. 

1. Rule 23(a) Requirements 

Ascertainability 

 As explained in the January 16, 2020 opinion, courts have recognized that a proposed 

class must be ascertainable, meaning it must be “defined clearly and based on objective criteria.”  

Mullins v. Direct Digit., LLC, 795 F.3d 654, 659 (7th Cir. 2015).  If a proposed class sweeps in a 

large proportion of persons who could not have been injured by a defendant’s conduct, the class 

is overbroad.  See Oshana v. Coca-Cola Co., 472 F.3d 506, 514 (7th Cir. 2006).  The court 

previously expressed concerns that the Plaintiffs’ proposed class included some individuals who 

could not have been harmed because they were released shortly after arriving at the “Alpha” 

intake unit and thus were never assigned to a pod.  T.S., 334 F.R.D. at 527–28.  Plaintiffs have 

attempted to correct potential overbreadth problems by limiting each of the three proposed 

classes to detainees who were at the JTDC for at least 24 consecutive hours.  (Renewed Class 

Mot. at 2, 6–7.)  Plaintiffs emphasize that even “Alpha” intake detainees are typically provided 

with daily off-pod recreation.  (Id. at 8 (citing Dunlap Supp. Rpt. ¶ 4).)  Thus, intake detainees who 

spent at least 24 hours at the JTDC may have been affected by Empire filming if they did not 

receive off-pod recreation. 

 Defendants argue that the proposed classes are still overbroad for several reasons.  First, 

they point out that not all detainees were juveniles—between 6 and 14 detainees were adults on 

each day of the June and July filming periods.  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. [397] at 21 (citing 

Opp’n Ex. M 21:3–22:20 & Opp’n Ex. L).)  Second, they argue that T.S. and Q.B. (as well as 

presumably H.C.) lack standing to represent female detainees, who are housed separately and 

receive separate schooling, recreation, and programming.  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 22 

(citing Opp’n Ex. M 108:1–109:10).)  Third, Defendants argue that Alpha detainees should be 
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excluded from the class definitions because they do not attend school and are more likely to be 

restricted from recreation.  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 22 (citing Opp’n Ex. AA and Opp’n 

Ex. BB ¶ 4).)   

 The court is satisfied that Plaintiffs’ adjustments to their proposed classes have mitigated 

any potential overbreadth problems.  First, the court is not concerned that the presence of a 

handful of adult detainees will have a significant impact on the certifiability of the proposed 

classes.21  See Messner, 669 F.3d at 825–26 (reversing denial of class certification where only 

2.4 percent of putative class members could not have been harmed by defendant’s conduct).  

Second, Defendants’ arguments regarding female detainees go more to typicality and adequacy 

than overbreadth.  As Plaintiffs explain, female pods are segregated from male pods, but female 

detainees still attend school on the JTDC’s second floor, receive off-pod recreation, and 

participate in programming.  Accordingly, they may have been subject to increased confinement 

during filming.  (Renewed Mot. at 5.)  Finally, the court agrees that the 24-consecutive-hours 

requirement for all proposed classes ensures that even Alpha detainees are among those who 

would normally have received some off-pod movement.  As the court explains below, the addition 

of subclasses within Class 1, the “increased confinement” class, means that Alpha detainees will 

be included in a subclass only if they actually would have left their pods for recreation.  The court 

is therefore no longer concerned about overbreadth, and now turns to Rule 23(a)’s four 

requirements. 

Numerosity 

 To satisfy numerosity, Plaintiffs must show that the proposed classes are “so numerous 

that joinder of all members is impracticable.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 23(a)(2).  Generally, classes of forty 

or more members are sufficiently numerous.  Anderson v. Weinert Enters., Inc., 986 F.3d 773, 

 
21  Plaintiffs’ class definitions arguably exclude adult detainees by referring to “youth,” 

but the parties do not address this argument. 
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777 (7th Cir. 2021).  Even if a plaintiff cannot provide precise numbers at the certification stage, 

“a good faith estimate is sufficient to satisfy the numerosity requirement where it is difficult to 

assess the exact class membership.”  Buycks-Roberson v. Citibank Fed. Sav. Bank, 162 F.R.D. 

322, 329 (N.D. Ill. 1995) (quotation marks and alterations omitted).  Defendants do not challenge 

numerosity under Rule 23(a)(1).  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 23.)  Nonetheless, as the party 

seeking class certification, Plaintiffs bear the burden of proving by a preponderance of the 

evidence that their proposed classes are sufficiently numerous.  Anderson, 986 F.3d at 777 (citing 

Chi. Tchrs. Union, Local No. 1 v. Bd. of Educ. of City of Chi., 797 F.3d 426, 433 (7th Cir. 2015)). 

 Class 1, the “increased confinement” class, easily satisfies numerosity.  More than 300 

juvenile detainees were confined at the JTDC during each of the Empire filming sessions, and 

Plaintiffs maintain that the vast majority of those detainees were detained for at least 24 

consecutive hours.  (Renewed Mot. at 9.)  The numerosity of subclass 1(a), the off-pod LME 

subclass, is less certain, but Plaintiffs point the court to the number of detainees who were 

confined to their pods for at least 24 hours (Subclass 1(f)) as evidence in support of finding 

numerosity for Subclass 1(a) because those same detainees were presumably denied off-pod 

LME, as well.  (See Ex. A to Weil Decl. 8/7/20.)22  The court agrees that this is a logical assumption 

and finds that Subclass 1(a) satisfies numerosity.   

 For Subclass 1(b), the outdoor recreation subclass, Plaintiffs have submitted an exhibit 

showing the recreation schedule for one of the JTDC’s centers, showing that multiple pods were 

scheduled for outdoor recreation every day between June 1, 2015 and June 13, 2015.  (See Ex. 

B to Weil Decl. 6/15/20 [351-2].)  The first Empire filming period spanned June 22–26, 2015, so 

 
22  The court notes that this new chart does not attempt to calculate the total number 

of detainees who were confined for at least 24 consecutive hours, as previous versions of the 
exhibit did.  Instead, the chart calculates the number of detainees who satisfied that criteria per 
pod per day of filming.  Nonetheless, by the court’s reading of the chart, well over 40 detainees 
may have been subject to “severe confinement” on at least one day during each of the three 
filming periods. 

Case: 1:16-cv-08303 Document #: 434 Filed: 06/10/21 Page 53 of 72 PageID #:9466



 

54 

 

the schedule set forth in Plaintiffs’ exhibit is not clear evidence of the frequency of outdoor 

recreation later in June, much less in July and August.  Nonetheless, given that Defendants have 

not challenged the numerosity of this or any subclass, the court is willing to assume—solely for 

purposes of class certification—that on a typical day in June, at least two pods would have been 

scheduled for outdoor recreation.  If each pod contained at least a dozen detainees, and there 

were twelve days of filming across all three filming periods, then well over forty detainees could 

have been affected. 

 Subclass 1(c), the school-break recreation subclass, consists of detainees who did not 

receive “extra” off-pod activity during the school breaks in June and August.  According to Earl 

Dunlap’s supplemental expert report, all detainees, regardless of behavioral level, would have 

been eligible for additional time off-pod when school was not in session.  (See Dunlap Suppl. 

Expert Rpt., Ex. 1 to Renewed Class Mot. [351-1] ¶ 5; Ex. 10 to Dunlap Suppl. Expert Rpt. 

(showing “break tournament!” between August 17, 2014 and August 29, 2014).)  Plaintiffs again 

point to counsel’s declaration as evidence that well over 100 detainees would be part of this 

subclass.  (See Ex. A to Weil Decl. 8/7/20.)  As with Subclass 1(a), the court is willing to assume 

that detainees confined for at least 24 consecutive hours during the June and August filming 

periods would also have been denied extra school-break recreation.  Subclass 1(c) therefore 

satisfies numerosity. 

 Subclass 1(d), the school subclass, consists of detainees who did not travel to classes at 

the Nancy B. Jefferson school during the July filming period.  Plaintiffs attest that this would have 

included all detainees at the JTDC, except for those in the Alpha intake pods.  The court agrees 

that this subclass is sufficiently numerous. 

 Subclass 1(e), the programming subclass, includes detainees who were deprived of 

programming during the filming periods.  Plaintiffs contend that the cancellation of Free Write 

alone affected 41 detainees in June.  (Renewed Mot. at 10 (citing Ex. A to Weil Decl. 6/15/20).)  
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Although the cited declaration does not make clear how Plaintiffs arrived at this number, the court 

notes that other parts of the record suggest that at least 40 detainees may have missed 

programming opportunities during the filming periods.  (See Renewed Mot. at 25; PSOAF ¶ 54.) 

 Subclass 1(f), the “severe confinement” subclass, is sufficiently numerous for the same 

reasons as Subclasses 1(a) and 1(c).  (See Ex. A to Weil Decl. 8/7/20.) 

 Class 2, the “degraded visitation” class, includes all detainees who had visitors during the 

June and July filming periods, when the Fox Defendants used the room where visitation typically 

occurred.  Detainees in this class received visitors in a classroom that was approximately 

10 percent smaller than the normal visitation room.  (See Defs.’ SOF ¶ 66; Resp. to Defs.’ SOF 

¶ 66.)  Because dozens of detainees receive visitors every day, this class is sufficiently numerous.  

(See PSOAF ¶ 42 (“Detainees have two one-hour visiting slots per week.”); Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 42 

(not disputing this fact).) 

 Finally, Class 3, the “overcrowding” class, consists of detainees who were assigned to 

pods that exceeded the JTDC’s own guidelines.  The JTDC’s pods contain 16 or 18 single-bed 

rooms, but the JTDC’s written policies provide that the “functional operating capacity” of those 

pods is 12 or 14 residents, respectively.  (See PSOAF ¶¶ 40.)  Based on undisputed pod 

population records during the filming periods, the court concludes that this class satisfies 

numerosity.  (See PSOAF ¶¶ 40–41; Resp. to PSOAF ¶¶ 40–41 (conceding the existence of the 

JTDC’s policy and the pod population records, but noting that no pod housed more detainees 

than the number of single-bed rooms in the pod).) 

Commonalit. 

 Rule 23(a) requires Plaintiffs to show that there are “questions of law or fact common to 

the class.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 23(a)(2).  A single common question may be sufficient, so long as 

“determination of [the] truth or falsity [of a common contention] will resolve an issue that is central 

to the validity of each one of the claims in one stroke.”  Phillips v. Sheriff of Cook Cnty., 828 F.3d 

Case: 1:16-cv-08303 Document #: 434 Filed: 06/10/21 Page 55 of 72 PageID #:9468



 

56 

 

541, 550 (7th Cir. 2016) (quoting Wal-Mart, 564 U.S. at 350).  This inquiry may “entail some 

overlap with the merits of the plaintiff’s underlying claim.”  Phillips, 828 F.3d at 550 (quoting Wal-

Mart, 564 U.S. at 351).  A common question need not resolve every issue in the case.  Phillips, 

828 F.3d at 551.  Supplemental proceedings may be appropriate “if, for example, the common 

question relates to liability of the defendant to a class and separate hearings are needed to resolve 

the payments due to each member.”  Spano v. The Boeing Co., 633 F.3d 574, 585 (7th Cir. 2011). 

 The court previously concluded that Plaintiffs had satisfied commonality by identifying at 

least one common question: “whether Empire filming disturbed operations at the JTDC in ways 

that violated class members’ constitutional rights,” and specifically whether “allowing Empire to 

film at the JTDC is a legitimate justification for altering the normal operations of the facility.”  T.S., 

334 F.R.D. at 528, 530.  Because the court has granted summary judgment with respect to 

Plaintiffs’ constitutional claims, however, it must now reexamine whether Plaintiffs have met this 

requirement for the remaining state-law claims.  Plaintiffs identify the following common questions 

regarding breach of fiduciary duty: (1) whether Defendant Dixon owed JTDC detainees a fiduciary 

duty, (2) whether Dixon breached that duty, and (3) whether the breach proximately caused 

damages.  (Renewed Mot. at 29 (citing T.S., 334 F.R.D. at 537).)  Plaintiffs intend to offer common 

evidence that (1) Defendant Dixon assumed the position of guardian over the JTDC’s detainees, 

(2) Dixon breached his duty to ensure the “safety and general well-being” of his wards by 

eliminating or degrading services for his own benefit, and (3) Dixon’s breach proximately caused 

injuries to the classes in the form of psychological harm and increased risk of violence.  (Renewed 

Mot. at 29–30.)  Defendants concede that Plaintiffs have identified common questions but argue 

that they are “too superficial” to satisfy Rule 23(a)(2).  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 23.) 

 The court concludes that Plaintiffs have identified at least two common questions that can 

be proved with common evidence.  Specifically, the first two elements of their breach of fiduciary 

duty claim—(1) whether Defendant Dixon owed JTDC detainees a fiduciary duty, and (2) whether 
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Dixon breached that duty by allowing filming at the JTDC—are clearly “capable of classwide 

resolution.”  Phillips, 828 F.3d at 550 (quoting Wal-Mart, 564 U.S. at 350).  These questions 

pertain to all three classes and the subclasses within Class 1.  The third element of a breach of 

fiduciary duty, proximate cause, may be more challenging to prove with common evidence, but 

the first two common questions are sufficient to satisfy Rule 23(a)(2). 

Typicality 

 Rule 23(a)(3) requires that the “claims or defenses of the representative parties are typical 

of the claims or defenses of the class.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 23(a)(3).  “A claim is typical if it ‘arises 

from the same event or practice or course of conduct that gives rise to the claims of other class 

members and . . . [the named plaintiff’s] claims are based on the same legal theory.”  Oshana, 

472 F.3d at 514 (quoting Rosario v. Livaditis, 963 F.2d 1013, 1018 (7th Cir. 1992)).  The claims 

of the representatives need not be identical to those of the class members, but they should have 

the “same essential characteristics as the claims of the class at large.”  Oshana, 472 F.3d at 514 

(internal quotation marks and citations omitted).  In other words, “there must be enough 

congruence between the named representative's claim and that of the unnamed members of the 

class to justify allowing the named party to litigate on behalf of the group.”  Spano, 633 F.3d at 

586. 

 In the January 16, 2020 opinion, the court noted that “[s]ome of the conduct giving rise to 

Q.B. and T.S.'s claims appear to be typical of the class, but other alleged deprivations that they 

experienced appear to be unique.”  T.S., 334 F.R.D. at 530–31.  The court recommended 

narrowing the class “to include only the alleged deprivations that are common to every class 

member” or, alternatively, proposing subclasses.  Id. at 531.  In response to these concerns, 

Plaintiffs have proposed three classes and offered H.C. as a class representative for Subclass 

1(f).  (See Renewed Mot. at 15 n.2.)  The court will first describe the classes or subclasses that 

satisfy the typicality requirement, and then describe those that do not.   
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 Class 1, the increased confinement class, includes detainees who were subject to 

increased confinement for a variety of reasons (denial of off-pod LME, outdoor recreation, “extra” 

school-break recreation, school in the Nancy B. Jefferson classrooms, and/or programming).  

Plaintiffs insist that subclasses are unnecessary because the increased confinement stemmed 

from the same course of conduct: Defendant Dixon’s decision to allow the filming of Empire at the 

JTDC.  (Id. at 12–13.)  They also emphasize that each subclass is bringing claims based on the 

same legal theory: that Defendant Dixon breached his fiduciary duty to detainees at the JTDC, 

and that the breach proximately caused them harm.  (Id. at 13.)  According to Dr. Kraus’s expert 

report, “any increased restrictions on juveniles are psychologically harmful,” and “any youth 

detained at the JTDC who spent more time on the pod than he or she otherwise would have was 

harmed.”  (Id. at 14 (citing Kraus Rpt. ¶ 6).) 

 The court agrees with Defendants, however, that the reason for a given detainee’s 

increased confinement matters and that Class 1 does not satisfy typicality in the absence of 

subclasses.  Without dividing class members into subclasses, it will be difficult, if not impossible, 

to prove that the decision to permit filming at the JTDC proximately caused detainees’ increased 

confinement—a separate question from the amount of damages they may have incurred as a 

result of that confinement.  To take just one example, Empire filming may not have caused the 

cancellation of off-pod recreation for H.C.’s pod on one day in July because a fight broke out 

around the time that pod members would have left to go to the gym.  (See Defs.’ Opp’n to 

Renewed Mot. at 16 (citing Robinson Decl. of 7/17/20, Opp’n Ex. MM ¶¶ 17–20).)  Defendants 

have challenged typicality only as to Subclasses 1(c), 1(d), and1(f), (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed 

Mot. at 23), but the court addresses the issue with respect to each class and subclass for 

completeness. 

 Subclass 1(a), the off-pod LME subclass, consists of detainees who did not leave their 

pods for LME on at least one day during the Empire filming periods.  T.S., Q.B., and H.C. each 
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claim that they received LME on their pods—instead of traveling to the yard, the gym, or the game 

room—on at least one day.23  (PSOAF ¶ 10.)  Because their claims are typical of the subclass 

that they seek to represent, this subclass satisfies Rule 23(a)(3).  Defendants emphasize that 

whether Empire filming was the cause of a given pod not receiving off-pod recreation on a given 

day is a fact-intensive inquiry (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 34–35), but that alone does not 

justify denying certification of this subclass. 

 All named plaintiffs claim to have lost extra school-break recreation, such as tournaments, 

that they allegedly would have received but for the filming.  (PSOAF ¶¶ 10, 34.)  Defendants 

nevertheless challenge the typicality of Subclass 1(c) because H.C. never participated in a 

tournament despite opportunities to do so later in 2015.  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 36 n.5 

(citing H.C. Dep. at 48:8–49:4).)  It is similarly unclear whether T.S. or Q.B. would have 

participated in a tournament during the June or August filming periods.  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed 

Mot. at 36 n.5; but see T.S. Dep. at 117:1–9 (stating that T.S. recalled participating in a basketball 

tournament while on a school break at the JTDC).)  At the time of T.S. and Q.B.’s depositions, 

Plaintiffs had not yet asserted claims on the basis of a right to extra recreation during school 

breaks, so T.S. and Q.B. were not asked about tournaments at their depositions.  (Defs.’ Opp’n 

to Renewed Mot. at 36 n.5.)  Plaintiffs respond that, according to Dunlap’s expert report, break 

activities were not limited to tournaments, and all residents would have been brought off their 

pods for other recreation activities.  (Pls.’ Reply in Support of Renewed Mot. [400] at 18 (citing 

Dunlap Suppl. Expert Rpt. ¶¶ 5, 8.)  This report satisfies the court that the named Plaintiffs’ claims 

are sufficiently typical of those in Subclass 1(c), regardless of whether T.S., Q.B., or H.C. 

personally participated in tournaments. 

 
23  Defendants continue to dispute whether T.S. was denied off-pod recreation, noting 

that the JTDC’s records offer conflicting evidence regarding his pod’s recreation schedule on the 
day in question.  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 33–34.) 
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 Next, Subclass 1(d), the school subclass, satisfies typicality because T.S. and H.C. claim 

that they had school instruction on their pods on at least one day during the July filming period.  

(PSOAF ¶ 10.)  Defendants concede that this happened because of filming but dispute whether 

conducting the classes in the pod common areas was harmful.  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. 

at 36–37.)  Plaintiffs are no longer arguing that these classes were less effective; instead, they 

contend that the loss of movement to the Nancy B. Jefferson school was psychologically harmful, 

in that it contributed to increased confinement on the pods.  (Renewed Mot. at 15.)  With this 

narrower definition, Subclass 1(d) satisfies typicality. 

 Subclass 1(e), the programming subclass, also satisfies typicality because T.S. and H.C. 

both missed one Free Write session during filming.  (PSOAF ¶ 10(a), (c).)  Defendants do not 

dispute that the sessions were cancelled or that T.S. and H.C. were otherwise eligible to attend.  

(Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 10(a), (c).) 

 T.S. and Q.B.’s claims are not typical of those in Subclass 1(f), the “severe confinement” 

subclass, because they were not confined to their pods for 24 consecutive hours during the filming 

periods.  Plaintiffs acknowledge this and have proposed the addition of H.C. as a class 

representative.  (See Renewed Mot. at 15 n.2.)  Defendants argue the evidence that H.C. himself 

spent 24 consecutive hours on his pod is suspect because some residents on his pod left to watch 

a movie on the day in question.  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 39 (citing Justice Center Shift 

Report of 7/13/15, Opp’n Ex. LL).)  At the class certification stage, however, Plaintiffs need not 

prove their claims to an absolute certainty.  Messner, 669 F.3d at 811 (“It is sufficient if each 

disputed requirement has been proven by a preponderance of evidence.”)  There is evidence that 

H.C. was confined to his pod for at least 24 hours consecutively, so his claims are typical of those 

of Subclass 1(f) for purposes of Rule 23(a)(3). 

 Finally, Class 3, the overcrowding subclass, satisfies typicality.  According to the JTDC’s 

pod capacity logs, Q.B.’s pod exceeded its functional capacity by one resident during filming.  
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T.S., 334 F.R.D. at 534.  That resident was moved from pod 3A or 3B (Alpha intake pods), which 

were closed due to filming, to Q.B.’s pod.  Id.  Plaintiffs allege that overcrowding creates safety 

risks and can be psychologically harmful to detainees.  (Renewed Mot. at 16.)  Because Q.B.’s 

claims are typical of those in Class 3, the class satisfies Rule 23(a)(3). 

 By contrast, the court concludes that Subclass 1(b) and Class 2 do not satisfy typicality.  

Turning to Subclass 1(b): none of the named plaintiffs alleges that he was personally denied 

scheduled outdoor recreation during the filming periods, or that outdoor recreation was not 

scheduled for his pod because of the Empire filming.  Instead, T.S. and Q.B. attest that they were 

confined to their pods for LME for at least one day and that they lost “break rec” during the June 

and August filming periods.  (PSOAF ¶¶ 10(a)–(b).)  H.C. similarly does not claim to have been 

denied outdoor recreation, arguing only that he lost “break rec” in June and August.  (Id. ¶ 10(c).)  

Because none of the named plaintiffs claims to have personally experienced the loss of outdoor 

recreation that they otherwise would have received, they lack standing to represent Subclass 1(b).  

See Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540, 1547 n.6 (2016) (“[E]ven named plaintiffs who 

represent a class must allege and show that they personally have been injured, not that injury has 

been suffered by other, unidentified members of the class to which they belong.”  (internal 

quotation marks and citation omitted)).  In any event, there is likely substantial overlap between 

this proposed subclass and Subclasses 1(a) and 1(c), which claim more generally that members 

were denied off-pod recreation, whether indoors or outdoors. 

 Class 2, the “degraded visitation” class, also cannot survive typicality.  The JTDC moved 

visitation to a different location during the June and July filming periods (no Empire filming 

occurred in the visitation room during the August filming period).  As Defendants note, the JTDC 

used a different classroom during the June filming period than it did in July.  Both classrooms 

used eight tables, but according to JTDC documents prepared in anticipation of filming, the 

placement of those tables within the rooms varied significantly between June and July.  (See 

Case: 1:16-cv-08303 Document #: 434 Filed: 06/10/21 Page 61 of 72 PageID #:9474



 

62 

 

Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 6 (citing Opp’n Ex. C at 6, 13).)  Specifically, the June layout placed 

six of the eight desks along the walls of the classroom, with two desks in the center, while the July 

layout placed all eight desks in the center of the room in two rows of four desks.  (Id.)  Neither 

T.S. nor Q.B. had visitation during the July filming period,24 and H.C. has not made any allegations 

regarding reduced privacy during visitation.  (See T.S. Dep. at 127:17–129:7, Opp’n Ex. N [398-

3]; Q.B. Dep. at 65:13-66:3, Opp’n Ex. P [398-3]; H.C. Dep. at 54:19–57:19, Opp’n Ex. O [398-

3].)  Because the basis for Plaintiffs’ claims hinges on the reduced privacy that detainees may 

have experienced during visitation due to the spacing of the tables, the named Plaintiffs are not 

proper representatives of detainees who had visitation in July. 

Adequacy 

 Rule 23(a)'s requirement that “the representative parties will fairly and adequately protect 

the interests of the class” implicates both the named representatives and the proposed class 

counsel.  FED. R. CIV. P. 23(a)(4).  Specifically, the “claims and interests of the named Plaintiffs 

must not conflict with those of the class, the class representatives must have sufficient interest in 

the outcome of the case, and class counsel must be experienced and competent.”  Van v. Ford 

Motor Co., 332 F.R.D. 249, 282 (N.D. Ill. 2019) (citing Retired Chi. Police Ass'n v. City of Chicago, 

7 F.3d 584, 598 (7th Cir. 1993)).  The experience and competence of class counsel includes 

“counsel's work on the case to date, counsel's class action experience, counsel's knowledge of 

the applicable law, and the resources counsel will commit to the case.”  Reliable Money Order, 

Inc. v. McKnight Sales Co., 704 F.3d 489, 498 n.7 (7th Cir. 2013). 

 In the January 16, 2020 opinion, the court invited Plaintiffs to provide updated biographies 

of Ms. Chardon and Mr. Weil, and to explain how the addition of Loevy & Loevy would affect class 

representation in this case.  T.S., 334 F.R.D. at 535.  Ms. Chardon has since withdrawn as 

 
24  Q.B. alleges that his grandmother was not able to visit him on one day during 

Empire filming (see Third Am. Compl. ¶ 49), but Plaintiffs are not attempting to certify Class 2 on 
that basis. 

Case: 1:16-cv-08303 Document #: 434 Filed: 06/10/21 Page 62 of 72 PageID #:9475



 

63 

 

Plaintiffs’ counsel (Minute Entry of 7/21/20 [376]), so the court will focus on Mr. Weil and Loevy & 

Loevy’s collective experience with class action litigation.  While working for various law firms, Mr. 

Weil has represented clients in multi-district litigation, an ERISA class action, and a parens patriae 

action (a lawsuit brought by a state on behalf of its own citizens).  (Renewed Mot. at 17.)  This 

experience, combined with Mr. Weil’s long history litigating this case, satisfies the court that he 

will perform adequately as class counsel.  Mr. Weil is now associated with Loevy & Loevy, a firm 

that has extensive experience representing incarcerated people.  The firm has committed to 

provide resources toward all phases of the litigation, including class certification, trial, appeal, and 

settlement negotiations.  (Id. at 17–18.)  Mr. Weil and his firm are adequate class counsel in this 

case. 

 Indeed, Defendants do not challenge the adequacy class counsel.  They do argue, 

however, that T.S., Q.B., and H.C. are not adequate class representatives.  (Defs.’ Opp’n to 

Renewed Mot. at 43–44.)  Specifically, Defendants suggest that T.S., Q.B., and H.C. have had 

minimal communication with their attorneys and have not been kept apprised of settlement 

negotiations.  (Id. (citing H.C. Dep. at 26:11–13).)  Defendants concede that putative class 

representatives need not be legal experts, but they nonetheless contend that the three proposed 

representatives have not met even minimum standards of supervision.  (Id. at 44 (citing In re: 

Ocean Bank, No. 06 C 3515, 2007 WL 1063042, at * 8 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 9, 2007).)  Defendants point 

out that H.C. seemed caught off-guard during his deposition on August 4, 2020, in that he had 

not seen the proposed Third Amended Complaint before it was filed on July 1, 2020, and was not 

familiar with the interrogatory responses his attorneys had prepared.  (See H.C. Dep. at 28:1–10, 

115:21–116:21, 118:4–10, 119:3–22.) 

 Plaintiffs respond that “understanding the minutia of a case is not a prerequisite to being 

a class representative.”  (Pls.’ Reply in Support of Class Cert. at 29 (quoting Murray v. New 

Cingular Wireless Servs., 232 F.R.D. 295, 300 (N.D. Ill. 2005).)  With respect to keeping Plaintiffs 
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apprised of progress, counsel reports that he was able to meet with T.S. but not Q.B. on January 

30, 2020 at the Cook County Jail.  (Pls.’ Reply in Support of Class Cert. at 30 (citing Weil Decl. 

9/25/20, Ex. 11 to Pls.’ Reply).)  Counsel did speak with Q.B. on February 25, 2020.  (See Minute 

Entry of 6/24/20 [359] (ordering Plaintiffs to disclose the dates of any additional communications 

with their attorneys since August 7, 2018); Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 43.)  With respect to 

H.C.’s deposition testimony, Mr. Weil attests that he showed H.C. the Second Amended 

Complaint before filing the Third Amended Complaint, and reviewed H.C.’s interrogatory 

responses with him before H.C. signed them.  (Pls.’ Reply in Support of Class Cert. at 30 (citing 

Weil Decl. 9/25/20 ¶¶ 10–11).) 

 The court concludes that T.S., Q.B., and H.C. are adequate class representatives for 

purposes of Rule 23(a)(4).  Plaintiffs are correct that “[e]xperience teaches that it is counsel for 

the class representative and not the named parties, who direct and manage these actions.”  

Culver v. City of Milwaukee, 277 F.3d 908, 913 (7th Cir. 2002).  Indeed, “[I]t is well established 

that a named plaintiff's lack of knowledge and understanding of the case is insufficient to deny 

class certification, unless his ignorance unduly impacts his ability to vigorously prosecute the 

action.”  In re Ocean Bank, 2007 WL 1063042, at *5 (quoting Murray, 232 F.R.D. at 300).  Here, 

H.C.’s missteps during his deposition are not so significant as to defeat his adequacy as a class 

representative.  The court is confident that counsel understands the need to continue updating 

T.S., Q.B., and H.C. about the litigation, including the possibility of a settlement, while recognizing 

that the COVID-19 pandemic has complicated their ability to meet in person. 

* * * 

 To summarize, the remaining classes are: Subclass 1(a) (the off-pod LME subclass), 

Subclass 1(c) (the school-break recreation subclass), Subclass 1(d) (the school subclass), 

Subclass 1(e) (the programming subclass), Subclass 1(f) (the severe confinement class), and 

Class 3 (the overcrowding class). 
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2. Rule 23(b)(3) Requirements 

 Because Plaintiffs have shown that at least some of their proposed classes and 

subclasses satisfy the four requirements of Rule 23(a), the court now assesses whether they can 

meet the criteria of Rule 23(b)(3).  To certify a class under Rule 23(b)(3), the court must find that 

common questions predominate over individual ones and that a class action is “superior to other 

available methods of adjudicating the controversy.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 23(b)(3). 

Predominance 

 The predominance requirement is “far more demanding” than the commonality 

requirement, and tests whether the proposed class is “sufficiently cohesive to warrant adjudication 

by representation.”  Amchem Prods., Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 623–24 (1997).  The Rule 

23(b)(3) analysis begins with the “elements of the underlying cause of action.”  Messner, 669 F.3d 

at 815.  “If, to make a prima facie showing on a given question, the members of a proposed class 

will need to present evidence that varies from member to member, then it is an individual 

question.”  Id. (citation omitted). “If the same evidence will suffice for each member to make a 

prima facie showing, then it becomes a common question.”  Id.  Rule 23(b)(3) does not require 

“that each element of [a] claim is susceptible to classwide proof.”  Alicea v. Cnty. of Cook, No. 

18 C 5381, 2019 WL 3318140, at *3 (N.D. Ill. July 24, 2019) (quoting Bell v. PNC Bank, Nat. 

Ass'n, 800 F.3d 360, 381 (7th Cir. 2015)).  But the common questions must “represent a significant 

aspect of a case.”  Messner, 669 F.3d at 815 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted); see 

also Tyson Foods, Inc. v. Bouaphakeo, 136 S. Ct. 1036, 1045 (2016) (“When one or more of the 

central issues in the action are common to the class and can be said to predominate, the action 

may be considered proper under Rule 23(b)(3) even though other important matters will have to 

be tried separately, such as damages or some affirmative defenses.”) (citation omitted). 

 Plaintiffs claim that Defendant Dixon breached a fiduciary duty to JTDC detainees by 

allowing Empire to film at the facility.  To succeed on a claim for breach of fiduciary duty for 

Case: 1:16-cv-08303 Document #: 434 Filed: 06/10/21 Page 65 of 72 PageID #:9478



 

66 

 

damages under Illinois law, Plaintiffs must show that “(1) a fiduciary duty existed, (2) that duty 

was breached, and (3) the breach of the duty proximately caused damages.”  Chi. Title Ins. Co. v. 

Sinikovic, 125 F. Supp. 3d 769, 777 (N.D. Ill. 2015) (citing Gross, 619 F.3d at 709).  As explained 

above in the court’s summary judgment analysis, Defendant Dixon may have owed a fiduciary 

duty to detainees similar to that of a guardian to his wards.  A reasonable jury could also conclude 

that Defendant Dixon breached that duty by approving the Empire filming.  Plaintiffs can prove 

these elements with common evidence.  More complicated is whether common questions 

predominate regarding the third element: whether the approval of filming proximately caused the 

specific harms alleged by each class or subclass. 

 In the January 16, 2020 opinion, the court concluded that “Plaintiffs need to show that 

[Dixon’s] decision had a class-wide effect on the detainees’ safety or well-being.”  T.S., 334 F.R.D. 

at 538.  For the Class 1 subclasses, Plaintiffs argue that the expert reports from Dunlap and Dr. 

Kraus constitute common evidence that increased confinement, regardless of the precise reason, 

was psychologically harmful to detainees.  (Renewed Mot. at 27.)  For Class 3, Plaintiffs again 

point to the expert reports as evidence that overcrowding on the pods was not only psychologically 

harmful, but also put detainees at greater risk of violence.  (Id. at 28–29 (citing Dunlap Rpt. ¶ 57; 

Kraus Rpt. at ¶ 38).)25 

 
25  Class 2, the visitation class, does not satisfy Rule 23(a).  Even if it did, this class 

would fail Rule 23(b)(3) because Plaintiffs have not offered common evidence that the spacing of 
the tables in the alternate classrooms offered reduced privacy during visitation.  (See Pl.’s Resp. 
to Defs.’ SOF ¶ 66 (not disputing that there was only 10% less space (by square footage) in the 
classroom used for visitation during filming compared to the typical room).)  The normal visitation 
room had 12 tables, but the evidence suggests that the alternate visitation rooms had 8 tables.  
(PSOAF ¶ 42–43.)  Empirically, it is unclear if there was in fact less space between the tables 
and/or visitors in the classrooms.  And as Defendants observe, the precise spacing of the tables 
matters only to the extent that the alternate visitation room was full at a given time.  (Defs.’ Opp’n 
to Renewed Mot. at 39–40.)  Individual inquiries into the number of people in the alternate 
visitation room and their locations at a given time would render this class unmanageable.  Without 
common evidence, Plaintiffs cannot make a prima facie showing that the loss of privacy amounted 
to a breach of Defendant Dixon’s fiduciary duty to detainees. 
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 Defendants assert that proving a breach and subsequent harm to detainees will require 

extensive individual inquiries.  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 32–33, 41–42.)  Plaintiffs 

respond that the individual issues Defendants have identified concern the amount of damages 

that each detainee suffered.  (Pls.’ Reply in Support of Renewed Mot. at 11–12.)  The court agrees 

that Plaintiffs may satisfy predominance “despite the need to make individualized damage 

determinations.”  Mulvania, 850 F.3d at 859.  Plaintiffs can use common evidence to show that 

Defendant Dixon had a fiduciary duty and that he breached that duty.  But the expert reports alone 

are not common evidence that Defendant Dixon’s breach is what caused detainees to spend more 

time on their pods than they otherwise would have.  Individual questions regarding the precise 

cause of a detainees’ increased confinement would predominate among Class 1 in the absence 

of subclasses. 

Subclass 1(a), the off-pod LME subclass, does not satisfy predominance.  The evidence 

necessary to prove whether, but for the filming, a particular pod would have received off-pod LME 

would vary from pod to pod, and even from detainee to detainee within a given pod.  See Messner, 

669 F.3d at 815 (“If, to make a prima facie showing on a given question, the members of a 

proposed class will need to present evidence that varies from member to member, then it is an 

individual question.”).  To take just one example, on the day that Plaintiffs claim T.S. had on-pod 

recreation, another JTDC record states that his pod went to the gym.  (See Defs.’ Opp’n to 

Renewed Mot. at 15–16.)  The jury would need to make an individual determination as to whether 

T.S. had off-pod recreation on a single day, and that determination might differ from whether the 

rest of the detainees in his pod had off-pod recreation.  Those determinations would also not 

advance the claims of any other pod because detainees in each pod had their own recreation 

schedules.  (See Steward Decl., Opp’n Ex. Q ¶ 13; May Dunlap Dep., Opp’n Ex. K 35:12–20.)  

Similarly, Defendants do not dispute that Q.B. had on-pod recreation on one day of filming, but it 

was not uncommon for Q.B.’s pod, which had a history of disciplinary problems, to have on-pod 
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recreation due to safety concerns.  (See Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 16.)  A jury would need 

to consider whether it was the presence of the Empire crew or some other factor that resulted in 

Q.B.’s pod being limited to on-pod recreation.  Because individual questions of causation would 

predominate over common questions of duty and breach, this subclass does not satisfy Rule 

23(b)(3).   

 Subclass 1(c), the extra school-break recreation subclass, does satisfy the predominance 

requirement.  Plaintiffs can use common evidence to show that all detainees would have received 

extra recreation opportunities during the June and August filming periods when school was not in 

session.  According to Dunlap’s supplemental expert report, “all kids, regardless of [behavior] 

level, would spend as much time off the ‘Center’ pods as possible . . . in addition to the one-hour 

of ‘large muscle activity’ recreation that they were normally provided.”  (Opp’n Ex. BB ¶¶ 4–5.)  

Defendants dispute whether detainees actually received “extra” recreation when Dunlap worked 

at the JTDC in 2014, the year before Empire filming.  (Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 15.)  But 

Plaintiffs need not establish that they will prevail on their claims at this stage.  Should they 

ultimately be unable to do so, the court would dismiss all such claims for members of a class 

certified under Rule 23(b)(3). 

 Subclass 1(d), the school subclass, also satisfies predominance.  Plaintiffs have 

presented evidence that almost all detainees would have attended school in the Nancy B. 

Jefferson classrooms during the July filming period.  Defendants do not dispute that “this 

happened because of the filming,” with the minor caveat that some detainees may have been in 

court, in the Alpha pods, or confined to their rooms for disciplinary reasons at the time.  (Defs.’ 

Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 36.)  Defendants also question whether offering classes on the pods 

instead of in classrooms was harmful, but this argument goes to the merits of Plaintiffs’ claim 

rather than certification. 
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 Subclass 1(e), the programming subclass, narrowly satisfies predominance.  Although 

Plaintiffs have not provided a definitive list of programs that were scheduled but cancelled due to 

filming, there is evidence in the record that the following programs were cancelled: a program by 

the Chicago Alliance Against Sexual Exploitation, a University of Illinois nutrition education 

program, Karma Garden, and Free Write.  (See PSOAF ¶ 37–38; Free Write Roster [400-10].)26  

At least some trips to the “commissary,” which took place in repurposed classrooms where 

detainees could purchase items or engage in activities like ping pong or video games, were 

cancelled because of filming.  (PSOAF ¶ 39; Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 39.)  To comply with Rule 

23(b)(3), the court narrows the subclass definition to include detainees who would have attended 

these off-pod programs (as opposed to unspecified additional programs) during Empire filming. 

 Subclass 1(f), the severe confinement class, does not satisfy predominance.  Plaintiffs 

have made repeated attempts to compile charts calculating the number of detainees who did not 

leave their pods for at least 24 consecutive hours during filming.  Each time, Defendants have 

pointed out inaccuracies in those charts, and Plaintiffs now concede that the DC5 logs, alone, are 

insufficient to establish numerosity of this subclass.  (See Pls.’ Status Report 8/2/20 [388].)  As 

with Subclass 1(a), individual questions regarding why a particular detainee did not leave his or 

her pod abound.  Because Plaintiffs cannot prove their claims with common evidence, the court 

denies certification of this subclass. 

 For Class 3, common questions predominate over individual inquiries because Plaintiffs 

can rely on pod population records for evidence that pod populations increased during filming.  

(See PSOAF ¶ 41.)  In turn, Plaintiffs can rely on the expert reports to establish that such 

overcrowding may have caused harm.  Again, Defendants will be free to demonstrate that Dixon’s 

 
26  Defendants dispute whether all of these programs were offered in the summer of 

2015 and whether they were canceled because of filming.  (Defs.’ Resp. to PSOAF ¶ 37–39.) 
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breach did not proximately cause the alleged overcrowding and that such overcrowding did not 

compromise detainees’ safety.  (See Defs.’ Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 40–41.) 

 The elements of a claim for breach of fiduciary duty for restitution under Illinois law are 

similar to but distinct from a claim for damages.  Instead of showing that the breach proximately 

caused damages to the plaintiff, a plaintiff must show that the breach benefitted the fiduciary.  See 

Pro-Pac Inc., 721 F.3d at 787 (quoting Restatement (Third) of Restitution & Unjust Enrichment 

§ 43).  Plaintiffs argue that they will offer common evidence that Defendant Dixon received 

quantifiable benefits from the breach, including autographed photographs from Empire stars and 

a director’s chair.  (Renewed Mot. at 32.)  Defendants argue that restitution is unavailable as a 

remedy, but it is unclear if they are referring solely to restitution flowing from the Fox Defendants’ 

alleged inducement of a breach.  (See Opp’n to Renewed Mot. at 41.)  Because the court has 

granted summary judgment to the Fox Defendants on the inducement count, Plaintiffs may seek 

restitution only from the County Defendants.  The amount of such restitution may be de minimis, 

but the court concludes that common questions predominate for this aspect of their restitution 

claim. 

Superiority 

 Rule 23(b)(3) requires that proceeding as a class action under this provision be “superior 

to other available methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the controversy.”  FED. R. CIV. P. 

23(b)(3).  Courts consider the following factors:  

(A) the class members' interests in individually controlling the prosecution or 
defense of separate actions; 
(B) the extent and nature of any litigation concerning the controversy already 
begun by or against class members; 
(C) the desirability or undesirability of concentrating the litigation of the claims in 
the particular forum; and 
(D) the likely difficulties in managing a class action. 
 

Id.  Plaintiffs argue that Rule 23(b)(3)(A)–(C) all weigh in favor of proceeding as a class action.  

(Renewed Mot. at 33.)  Specifically, a class action will enable detainees to pursue many small 
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claims together and avoid repeated litigation of threshold issues, such as whether Dixon owed 

detainees a fiduciary duty.  See Chi. Tchrs. Union, 797 F.3d at 433 (“The purpose of class action 

litigation is to avoid repeated litigation of the same issue and to facilitate prosecution of claims 

that any one individual might not otherwise bring on her own.”).  Plaintiffs are also unaware of any 

additional litigation pertaining to the conduct at issue in this case.  Defendants’ brief implicitly 

raises Rule 23(b)(3)(D), the likely difficulties in managing a class action, as a reason to deny 

certification, but they otherwise do not challenge superiority.  The court concludes that Plaintiffs 

have satisfied superiority for the remaining classes and subclasses. 

3. Rule 23(b)(1)(B) 

 The court may certify a class under Rule 23(b)(1)(B) if “prosecuting separate actions . . . 

would create a risk of adjudications with respect to individual class members that, as a practical 

matter, would be dispositive of the interests of the other members not parties to the individual 

adjudications or would substantially impair or impede their ability to protect their interests.”  FED. 

R. CIV. P. 23(b)(1)(B).  Plaintiffs argue that Rule 23(b)(1)(B) certification is appropriate for their 

claims against the Fox Defendants (Count VIII for tortious inducement of a breach of fiduciary 

duty and Count XIII for unjust enrichment).  In their renewed motion for class certification, Plaintiffs 

clarify that they are not seeking certification of this class in the alternative; instead, they believe 

that Rule 23(b)(1)(B) is preferable to Rule 23(b)(3) for their unjust enrichment claims.  (Renewed 

Mot. at 34.)  Because the court has granted Defendants’ motion for summary judgment on the 

inducement and unjust enrichment claims against the Fox Defendants, the court need not 

consider whether certification under Rule 23(b)(1)(B) would be appropriate here.  
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the court grants in part and denies in part Defendants’ motions 

for summary judgment [361, 409, 411], grants Plaintiffs’ Motion to Amend [365], and grants in part 

and denies in part Plaintiffs’ renewed motion for class certification [351].  The following classes 

and subclasses are certified under Rule 23(b)(3): Subclass 1(c), Subclass 1(d), Subclass 1(e), 

and Class 3.  Although the only remaining claims are state law claims, the court will exercise its 

discretion to retain jurisdiction of those claims.  Plaintiffs are directed, within 21 days, to prepare 

and submit a proposed class certification order consistent with this opinion.  The court encourages 

the parties to consider the possibility of settlement in light of the narrowed scope of the litigation.  

 
      ENTER: 
 
 
 
Dated:  June 10, 2021   _________________________________________ 
      REBECCA R. PALLMEYER 
      United States District Judge 
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